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THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

As noted in my commentary in last year’s Annual Report, the Group’s Defined Benefit Pension Scheme entered into a buy-in transaction with Aviva in the

second quarter of 2024.  This significantly reduced the ongoing risks to the Group.  Following this transaction the £23m surplus in the Group’s balance sheet

as at the end of 2023 reduced to £7m as at the end of 2024.

We are very grateful for the help and support given by the UK P&I Club through these arrangements.

Focus also continues on developing the Group’s owned businesses, supported by clear action plans which are in place. Good progress is being made

although profit performance in 2024 was mixed. The key highlights include:

• Professional Services Division: In aggregate, this Division performed in line with budget, with above budget performances from Brookes Bell and Condon

Claims Management off-setting largely cost driven shortfalls from TM Claims Management and Shearwater Law. Development plans are being progressed to

grow this Division both organically and via acquisition.

• TheJudge: This performed above budget, reflecting strong new business volumes, with the more prudent approach to the value of work in progress held on

the Group’s balance sheet adopted for the 2023 financial statements continuing in 2024.

• Navata (previously TMS Offshore): This MGA business was re-branded in the year and has continued to develop its market presence however, profit

performance was below budget. This reflects a combination of below budget volumes, reduced commission rates, re-branding costs, some adverse foreign

exchange movements and the buy-back of an economic interest in the business held by its management team. 

Following on from the vision work as referenced in Charles’s commentary, we are currently exploring a possible sale of this business – this is work in

progress and it is possible that a conclusion will be reached later this year.

• TMS Construction: Income shortfalls, which largely reflect timing delays on construction projects, together with some restructuring costs resulted in a

below budget performance for the year. The business is however making progress and the 2024 out-turn is an improvement in excess of £1m on the previous

year.

• Thomas Miller Investment: Whilst this is a core activity for the Group and a key component of Thomas Miller’s overall mutual management proposition, it

is not a significant profit contributor in its own right – rather, the value of the service provided is primarily recognised via the management and incentive fees

received in respect of the mutual management activity. Investment outcomes are key performance indicators and positive returns were delivered in 2024

across all client portfolios.

In comparison with 2023, Shareholders will no doubt recall the out-turn for that year reflected a number of one-off items plus the benefit of a higher TT

incentive fee which was circa £3.6m above that booked in 2024. The one-offs included the benefit of the uplift in the Shipserv investment of circa £8m and

the add-back of circa £7m under International Accounting Standards relating to contributions into the Group’s Defined Benefit Pension Scheme (noting no

contributions were made in 2024 or are anticipated in the future), offset by a write-down of circa £4.4m in the value of TheJudge work in progress held on the

Group’s balance sheet and a goodwill impairment charge of circa £4m.

The proceeds from the Shipserv sale were received in tranches over the second half of 2024, with the final payment being received in December. These

monies, together with continuing strong internal cash management disciplines, have meant the Group has not had to borrow to support what is typically a low

cash position over the year end.

Share Market and Funding Arrangements

Historically, Thomas Miller has supported the internal share market by providing funding as required from its own cash resources. During the year, we entered 

into an arrangement with the UK P&I Club whereby it agreed to share this support in partnership with TMH. This arrangement is in place up until the point at

which the UK P&I Club’s interest in TMH reaches a maximum of 20% of the shares in issue.

Further, we entered into an arrangement whereby the UK P&I Club has agreed to act as lender to the Thomas Miller Group in the event borrowing facilities

are required. This arrangement replaces a previous arrangement with HSBC Bank, which has been in place for several years.

As highlighted in Charles’s commentary, the Group received a lower than anticipated incentive fee from the TT Club, with the shortfall relative to the Group’s

original budget being circa £5m. Whilst the Club’s underlying performance and investment returns were strong in 2024, a strengthening of its reserves for

prior year claims, together with some additional costs relating to the implementation of its new IT system, impacted the Club’s surplus for the year which, in

turn, impacted the incentive fee payable to Thomas Miller. Looking forward, we can anticipate an improved fee in 2025 and beyond.

The Fixed Premium Marine business was restructured during the year and incurred a loss of circa £5m, reflecting restructuring and goodwill impairment costs,

together with the impact of implementing a reduced risk appetite as the business was repositioned within the UK P&I Club. Going forward, the business will

operate as one of the UK P&I Club’s own business lines under a ‘cost plus’ profit contribution model for Thomas Miller.

The Group’s core activity continues to be the management of third party mutual insurance businesses and notwithstanding the challenging macro economic

conditions which prevailed during the year, the underlying performance of each managed entity in 2024 was strong within the sectors in which they operate.

Positively, with the exception of the TT Club (as noted above), the profit contribution to Thomas Miller from each entity was either in line with, or above,

budgeted levels.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT AND REVIEW OF THE YEAR

The Group delivered a pre-tax profit of £11.1m in 2024 against a budget of £16m and an out-turn of £21.9m the previous year. Whilst this outcome is

disappointing, the high-level numbers mask a number of significant one-off items and some strong delivery across many parts of the Group’s activities. 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT AND REVIEW OF THE YEAR (continued)

Business Plan

Over recent months the TMH Board has established a medium term vision for the Group, centred on continuing to deliver exceptional service across all the

Group’s business activities and fostering long-term relationships with our clients. The Group’s core focus continues to be on our mutual management

activities, supported and augmented by the continued development of the TM owned businesses to enhance the service we offer to the managed entities and

generate additional returns for shareholders. We have a detailed business plan for 2025 which focuses on business performance over both 2025 itself and

for the longer term – this includes consideration of such critical areas as our technology needs and the training and development of colleagues across the

Group.

Thomas Miller has a staff complement of 930 across the Group, including 140 colleagues who joined over the past year. The Group benefits from strong

employee engagement, with colleagues demonstrating a strong commitment to delivering high levels of client service. To support this, we will continue to

provide enhanced cross-Group training and experience opportunities to develop our talent pool and improve knowledge sharing. Further, we are committed to

developing diversity within our teams, reflecting our values and the markets in which we operate. A focus of our ESG strategy is Diversity, Equity & Inclusion

(DEI) and we launched our Global DEI Employee forum during the year to help us build engagement across the business.

The possibility of distributing part of the Shipserv proceeds by way of a special dividend has been raised previously. Having now reviewed matters taking into

account the prevailing global uncertainties and the need to retain some cash management flexibility for corporate development and contingency purposes, the

TMH Board has concluded no special dividend will be paid.    

THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

The development and application of artificial intelligence and digital functionality is moving apace and it is essential we invest in this area to take advantage of

the opportunities this offers. Towards the end of 2024 we launched the use of a generative AI tool, Copilot, across the Group. A number of training initiatives

have been established and the tool is compatible with our existing systems and processes. The take-up to date has been impressive, with colleagues across

the Group embracing the new capability and putting it to work within the managed entities, the owned businesses and Thomas Miller’s central functions. Real

life success stories and learnings are shared across the Group via the Intranet, with support and governance being undertaken by a dedicated AI Steering

Committee.

In addition to the development of Thomas Miller’s central technology capabilities, many of our managed businesses have revised their digital strategies over

the past year and Thomas Miller is working with each entity to ensure these are implemented in an efficient and timely manner.

Dividends

I am very pleased to confirm the final dividend will be paid in late June 2025 at the rate of 26.0 pence per share. Combined with the first and second interim

dividends already paid, this brings the total dividends paid in respect of 2024 to 52.0 pence – an increase of 2% above the previous year.

Whilst dividend payments must always be subject to future profitability and cash-flow generation, subject to any constraints these considerations present, we

plan to continue our policy of distributing profits to our shareholders via the current interim and final dividend structure.

Thank you

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to thank our clients, partners and, indeed colleagues throughout the Thomas Miller Group for the highly valued

support and commitment shown by all.
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THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2024 2023

Revenue £188.45 million £177.7 million

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation £11.06 million £21.95 million

Tax on profit on ordinary activities £4.12 million £4.56 million

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation £6.94 million £17.39 million

Basic earnings per ordinary share 67.9p 162.9p 

Diluted earnings per ordinary share 67.4p 161.6p 

First interim dividend paid 13.0p 12.5p

Second interim dividend payable 13.0p 13.0p

Final dividend payable 26.0p 25.5p

Total 52.0p 51.0p

Share price at 31 December £13.95 £13.00

In February 2025, the directors approved a second interim dividend of 13.0p per share (2023 - 13.0p) to be paid to shareholders on the register as at 4 March

2025, paid in March 2025. The directors have agreed that a final dividend of 26.0p per share (2023 - 25.5p) will be paid to shareholders on the register on 31

May 2025. The total estimated dividend to be paid is £2.63 million (2023 - £2.62 million). This dividend, together with the second interim dividend, has not

been included as a liability in these financial statements.

Insert graphs here
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

Responsibilities of directors

Other information

-  the related notes 1 to 37.

- have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 which would have applied if the financial statements were

statutory financial statements.

Opinion

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may

cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are

authorised for issue. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those

standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the non-statutory financial statements section of our report. 

- have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRSIC”)

interpretations as adopted by the United Kingdom with respect to the consolidated financial statements, and, have been properly prepared in accordance with

Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102), issued by the Financial Reporting Council with respect to the parent company’s financial statements; and

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law ,and IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and the

provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 that would have applied were these statutory financial statements.

In preparing the non-statutory financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern,

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the

company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the non-statutory

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material

inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the non-statutory

financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are

required to report that fact.

Conclusions relating to going concern

-  the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;

We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the non-statutory financial statements in the

UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these

requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the non-statutory financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the non-statutory financial statements does

not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Report on the audit of the non-statutory financial statements

-  the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

Basis for opinion

We have nothing to report in this regard.

In our opinion the non-statutory financial statements of Thomas Miller Holdings Limited (the ‘company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’):

 - give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2024 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended; and

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

-  the consolidated cash flow statement; and

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial

statements is appropriate. 

-  the consolidated and parent company balance sheets;

We have audited the non-statutory financial statements which comprise:

-  the consolidated income statement;

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the non-statutory financial statements

and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of

non-statutory financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD. (continued)

23 May 2025

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Deloitte LLP

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s directors, as a body, in accordance with our engagement letter and solely for the purpose of expressing our

opinion on the group and parent company’s non-statutory financial statements. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s

directors those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not

accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

     -In line with ISA 540 (Revised) we performed a stand back test to assess the reasonableness of the estimates.

We considered the nature of the group’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the group’s documentation of their policies and procedures

relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We also enquired of management, internal audit and the directors about their own identification

and assessment of the risks of irregularities, including those that are specific to the group’s business sector. 

- enquiring of management, internal audit and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims, and instances of non-compliance

with laws and regulations; and

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the non-statutory financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at:

www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

- do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the group’s ability to operate or to avoid a material

penalty. 

     - in line with ISA 540 (Revised), we performed a stand back test to assess the overall reasonableness of the assumptions.

- reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations

described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

- had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. These included UK and Bermuda Companies Act,

pensions legislation and tax legislation ; and

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined

above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities,

including fraud is detailed below. 

We discussed among the audit engagement team including relevant internal specialists such as tax, pensions and, ITregarding the opportunities and

incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements.

As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas, and our procedures performed to address them are

described below:

- with reference to recent experience, challenged the sufficiency and appropriateness of the constraint applied to variable turnover where the outcome of

the contract is uncertain; and

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the non-statutory financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these non-statutory financial statements.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:

     - assessed the reasonableness of assumptions used when calculating the value-in-use of the group's cash generating units; and

London, United Kingdom

- performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud; 

- reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance,  reviewing internal audit reports and reviewing correspondence with HMRC. 

- Valuation of goodwill: 

- Valuation of TheJudge Limited’s accrued income asset:

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override. In addressing

the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we tested the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessed whether the

judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any significant transactions that

are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

_______________________

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the group operates in, and identified the key laws and regulations that: 
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THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

*restated

Notes 2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Continuing operations

Revenue 3 177,974 166,685 

Administrative expenses (169,073) (155,791)

Operating profit 8,901 10,894 

Income from fixed asset investments 9 (44) 7,739 

Profit before interest and taxation 4 8,857 18,633 

Finance income 7 2,933 2,063 

Finance costs 8 (992) (1,019)

1,941 1,044 

Share of operating profit of associates 17 56 34 

Profit before taxation 10,854 19,711 

Income tax 10, 11 (4,043) (4,097)

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 6,811 15,614 

Profit for the financial year from continuing operations 6,811 15,614 

Discontinued operations

Revenue 3 10,480 11,019 

Administrative expenses (10,277) (8,780)

Profit before taxation 203 2,239 

Income tax 10, 11 (76) (465)

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 127 1,774 

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 20 127 1,774 

Profit for the year 6,938 17,388 

From continuing operations:

Basic earnings per ordinary share 66.7p 146.3p 

Diluted earnings per ordinary share 66.2p 145.1p 

From continuing and discontinued operations:

Basic earnings per ordinary share 14 67.9p 162.9p 

Diluted earnings per ordinary share 14 67.4p 161.6p 

The notes on pages 18 to 61 form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

2024 2023

£'000 £'000

6,938 17,388 

32 (16,731) (1,186)

11 4,183 237 

(12,548) (949)

242 170 

(12,306) (779)

(5,368) 16,609 

The notes on pages 18 to 61 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Currency translation differences on foreign currency net investments

All amounts derive from continuing operations unless otherwise stated.

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or 

loss

Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the year

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Profit for the financial year

Other comprehensive expense for the year net of income tax
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THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

Group Share 

capital

Share 

premium 

account

Retained 

earnings

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Own shares 

held by 

EBTs

2024

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000      £’000      £’000

1,377 942 86,105 20 (23,587) 64,857 

- - 6,938 - - 6,938 

- - 242 - - 242 

- - (12,548) - - (12,548)

- - (5,368) - - (5,368)

- - (5,669) - - (5,669)

(3) (334) - - - (337)

- - 336 - - 336 

- - 414 - - 414 

- - (34) - - (34)

- - - - (9,783) (9,783)

- - - - 2,839 2,839 

- - (247) - 247 - 

Other reserves - - (51) - - (51)

- - - - 4,354 4,354 

(3.00) (334) (10,619) - (2,343) (13,299)

1,374 608 75,486 20 (25,930) 51,558 

Group Share 

capital

Share 

premium 

account

Retained 

earnings

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Own shares 

held by 

EBTs

2023

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000      £’000      £’000

1,390 2,617 74,977 20 (18,799) 60,204 

- - 17,388 - - 17,388 

- - 170 - - 170 

- - (949) - - (949)

- - 16,609 - - 16,609 

- - (5,526) - - (5,526)

(13) (1,675) - - - (1,688)

- - 724 - - 724 

- - 88 - - 88 

Deferred tax on share based payment transactions (note 22) - - (3) - - (3)

- - - - (8,053) (8,053)

- - - - 1,472 1,472 

- - (763) - 763 0 

- - - - 1,029 1,029 

(13) (1,675) 11,129 - (4,788) 4,653 

1,377 942 86,106 20 (23,587) 64,858 

The notes on pages 18 to 61 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Actuarial loss relating to the pension deficit net of 

current and deferred tax

Equity attributable to equity holders of the company - 2023

Closing shareholders funds / (deficit) 

Value of shares awarded to employees (note 27)

Proceeds on disposal of EBT shares 

Proceeds on disposal of EBT shares 

Dividends paid (note 13)

Value of shares awarded to employees (note 27)

Net loss on shares awarded to employees

Acquisition of own shares by EBTs (note 27)

Equity settled share based (receipts) / payments

Net loss on shares awarded to employees

Net (reduction) / addition to shareholders funds

Closing shareholders funds / (deficit) 

Equity settled share based (receipts) / payments

Current tax on share based payment transactions

Purchase of own shares (note 25)

Acquisition of own shares by EBTs (note 27)

Opening shareholders funds / (deficits)

Profit for the financial year 

Dividends paid (note 13)

Currency translation differences on foreign currency net 

investments

Currency translation differences on foreign currency net 

investments

Net (reduction) / addition to shareholders’ funds

Total comprehensive expense for the year

Deferred tax on share based payment transactions (note 22)

Actuarial loss relating to the pension deficit net of 

current and deferred tax

Opening shareholders funds / (deficits)

Profit for the financial year 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the company - 2024

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Current tax on share based payment transactions

Purchase of own shares (note 27)

Total comprehensive income for the year
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THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

Company Share 

capital

Share 

premium 

account

Retained 

earnings

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Equity 

Merger

2024

£'000 £'000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £'000

1,377 942 43,023 20 - 45,362 

Profit for the financial year - - 11,946 - - 11,946 

Dividends paid - - (5,288) - - (5,288)

- - - - (8,251) (8,251)

Purchase of own shares (3) (334) - - - (337)

Equity settled share based payments - - 336 - - 336 

(3) (334) 6,994 - (8,251) (1,594)

1,374 608 50,017 20 (8,251) 43,768 

Company Share 

capital

Share 

premium 

account

Retained 

earnings

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Equity 

Merger

2023

£'000 £'000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £'000

1,390 2,617 37,070 20 - 41,097 

Profit for the financial year - - 10,479 - - 10,479 

Dividends paid - - (5,249) - - (5,249)

- - - - - - 

Purchase of own shares (13) (1,675) - - - (1,688)

Equity settled share based payments - - 724 - - 724 

(13) (1,675) 5,953 - - 4,265 

1,377 942 43,023 20 - 45,362 

The notes on pages 18 to 61 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Adjustment in respect of share records

Opening shareholders funds

Equity attributable to equity holders of the company - 2024

Closing shareholders funds 

Net (reduction) / addition to shareholders funds

Closing shareholders funds 

Opening shareholders funds

The share premium account and capital redemption reserve are distributable reserves as stated in the Bermudian Companies Act 1981.

Net (reduction) / addition to shareholders' funds

Equity attributable to equity holders of the company - 2023

Adjustment in respect of equity merger
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THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Notes 2024 2024 2023 2023

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

34 41,763 25,625 

Investing activities

2,977 1,944 

18 73 

Income / (loss) from fixed asset investments 7,990 - 

Sale / (purchase) of associates and other investments (6) - 

350 133 

(10,460) (14,514)

(4,559) (7)

(3,690) (12,371)

Financing activities

13 (5,669) (5,526)

(6,485) (6,637)

(Repayments of) / proceeds from loans and borrowings (8,000) 4,000 

(6,095) (7,630)

27 666 606 

(336) (1,689)

(25,919) (16,876)

12,154 (3,622)

56,776 60,129 

181 269 

69,111 56,776 

20 (24,667) - 

Adjusted cash and cash equivalents 30 44,444 56,776 

The notes on pages 18 to 61 form an integral part of these financial statements. 

Equity dividends paid

Payments to acquire / transfers of tangible fixed assets

Proceeds from exercise of options

Net cash (used in) investing activities

Acquisition of own shares by the EBT

Payments to acquire intangible fixed assets

Dividends from associates

Net cash from operating activities

Interest and other similar income received

Own shares purchased

Repayment of lease liabilities

Decrease / (increase) in current asset investments

- of which included in assets classified as held for sale

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Net cash (used in) financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

1.  Accounting policies

1.2  Going concern

1.1  Basis of preparation

The group is primarily engaged in mutual insurance management, insurance agency and services, and fund management.

The group has positive cash balances and net assets. The group also has long-term relationships with the majority of its significant customers. In addition,

the group completed on a Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) with the P&I Club in July 2024, providing $15m of committed financing, which enables financial

flexibility for both working capital needs and M&A growth. This RCF replaces the previous facility provided by HSBC, which was terminated in July 2024. The

group has an overall surplus on its retirement benefit obligations.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and United Kingdom company law as applicable to

overseas companies, as laid out in part 34 of the Companies Act 2006 and Statutory Instrument 2009 No. 1901 Companies - 'The Overseas Companies

Regulations 2009'.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative financial instruments and certain financial assets

that have been measured at fair value.  Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

The company is incorporated in Bermuda and registered as an overseas company in the United Kingdom. The address of the registered office is given on

the back cover of this annual report. The principal activities of the company and its subsidiaries (the group) and the nature of the group’s operations are set

out in note 17. These financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the

group operates. Foreign operations are included in accordance with the policies set out in note 1.11. Thomas Miller Holdings Limited is the Group holding

company and the ultimate controlling entity of the Group.

The Thomas Miller group has performed a liquidity stress test for the 19 month period ending December 2026 which indicates headroom before any mitigating

actions. Taking account of these potential mitigating actions, this analysis demonstrates that the group could continue as a going concern for at least the

next year given the financial and liquidity strength of the insurance companies managed by Thomas Miller and the notice periods contained in the contracts.

Accordingly, Thomas Miller considers the results of this test continue to support the view that the group is able to continue as a going concern for twelve

months since the authorisation of these financial statements.

The company as a "qualifying entity" is exempt from producing a cash flow statement in accordance with FRS 102.1.12(b). 

The group reported a profit before tax of £11.06 million for 2024 (2023 - £21.95 million) and had net cash inflows from operating activities of £41.76 million

(2023 - £25.63 million). The 2024 cash position included an additional cash outflow of £0.2 million (2023 - £3.65 million) - a payment into the Thomas Miller &

Co. defined benefit pension scheme. Note 30 to the financial statements includes the group's objectives, policies and processes for managing: its capital; its

financial risk management objectives; details of its financial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain material accounting estimates. It also requires management to

exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas

where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 2. The particular accounting policies adopted

by the directors are described below.

The consolidated financial statements of Thomas Miller Holdings Ltd. have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

("IFRS") and IFRS Interpretations Committee ("IFRS IC") interpretations as adopted by the United Kingdom and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to

companies reporting under IFRS. The company's financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with

Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102), issued by the Financial Reporting Council.

General information
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Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the company and to the non-controlling interests. Total

comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between the members of the group are eliminated on

consolidation.

If the group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal recognised in profit or loss is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of

the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),

less liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that

subsidiary are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or

transferred to another category of equity as specified / permitted by the applicable IFRSs).  

1.3  Basis of consolidation

When the company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over the investee when the voting rights are

sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The company considers all relevant facts and circumstances

in assessing whether or not the company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

Changes in the group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the

group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the

amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and

attributed to the owners of the company.

-  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

- any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time

that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

-  is exposed, or has rights, to variable return from its involvement with the investee; and

-  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

1.2  Going concern (continued)

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the company and entities controlled by the company (its subsidiaries) and are

made up to 31 December each year.  Control is achieved when the company:

As a consequence, the directors believe that the group is well placed to manage its business risks successfully in the current economic environment. 

-  the size of the company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

The company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three

elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the company loses control of the subsidiary.

Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the date the company

gains control until the date when the company ceases to control the subsidiary.

-  potential voting rights held by the company, other vote holders or other parties;

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the

foreseeable future.  Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and accounts. 

-  has the power over the investee;

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with the group’s accounting

policies.
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1.4  Business combinations

Goodwill

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated

impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of ten years and these are disclosed in note 15. The

remaining amortisation period is five years.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that

deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12

Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the group reports

provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see

above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition

date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on

how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its

subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent

reporting dates in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, or IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the

corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the group’s previously-held interests in the acquired entity is remeasured to its acquisition date fair value

and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have

previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were

disposed of.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, where possible, goodwill is allocated to

each of the group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been

allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the

cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated

to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for

goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

The group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described below.

Goodwill is initially recognised and measured as set out above.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value

of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum

of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the

acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

On disposal of a cash generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

When the consideration transferred by the group in a business combination includes asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,

the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination.

Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding

adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement

period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are recognised initially at their fair value at the acquisition date

(which is regarded as their cost).

1.5  Intangible fixed assets

Intangible assets

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is

measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by the group, liabilities incurred by the group to

the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interest issued by the group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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1.8  Financial instruments

Financial assets at FVTPL

1.7  Investments in associates

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated balance sheet at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise

the group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the

group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the group’s net investment in the associate), the

group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the group has incurred legal or

constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Motor vehicles

When the group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the group continues to use the equity method, the group reclassifies to profit or loss the

proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or

loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

Leased equipment

Straight-line over 3 to 17 years

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the

investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the

investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the group’s share of the net fair value of

the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the

investment is acquired.

1% per annum

Straight-line over 3 years

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised in the

group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the group.

The requirements of IAS 36 Impairment of Assets are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the

group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance

with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any

impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS

36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

Freehold property

Leasehold improvements

An associate is an entity over which the group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence

is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of

the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or scrappage of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the asset and is recognised in income.

By equal instalments over period of lease or useful economic life if shorter

Office machinery, fixtures and fittings

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less estimated residual value of all tangible fixed assets over the estimated useful economic lives of the assets.

The rates generally applicable are:

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment.

1.6  Property, plant and equipment

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of

financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss ("FVTPL")) are added to or

deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the

acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets classified FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the group’s balance sheet when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instrument.

Straight-line over period to next lease break clause

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting.
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Trade receivables

Financial liabilities

1.11  Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates (its

functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each group company are expressed in

Pounds Sterling, which is the functional currency of the company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

The group enters into foreign exchange forward contracts.  Further details of these derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 28.

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or

in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets. Trade

receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for

impairment.

Other creditors include amounts which are due to investment contract holders. These represent the balance held of funds on investment contracts received

plus interest received, less fees and claims paid, outstanding claims including claims incurred but not reported, profit commission on the investment contracts

and unrealised exchange difference relating to the revaluation into Sterling of other non Sterling currency sums, translated at the exchange rate on the

balance sheet date.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each

balance sheet date.  The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in

current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. The group’s

loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and other receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the balance sheet.

Loans and receivables

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date, taking into

account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation,

its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the group will be

required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability.

The derivative is presented as a current asset / liability or non-current asset / liability depending on the whether it is expected to be settled within or after 12

months.

1.10  Provisions

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid

investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts.

Financial liabilities classified at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. 

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are

recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are

denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in

foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of

historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Derivative financial instruments

Interest bearing loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the

company's obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

1.9  Amounts due to contract holders

1.8  Financial instruments (continued)
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Leases

-  variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the

group's incremental borrowing rate.

-  Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

- The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase

option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

Two group subsidiaries have applied IFRS 16 or the United States equivalent ASC842.  The details of accounting policy under IFRS 16 are presented below.

The group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding

lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or

less) and leases of low value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small items of office furniture and telephones). For these leases, the group

recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more

representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or

payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future (therefore forming part of the net investment

in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial

disposal of the net investment.

- The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which case the

lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a

change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the group’s foreign operations are translated at exchange rates

prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates

fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are

recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the commencement day, less

any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs.  They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

- A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on

the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

1.11  Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a

subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which

the retained interest become a financial assets), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners

of the company are reclassified to profit or loss.

1.12  Leases

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and

by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

(a) The group as a lessee

The group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.

-  payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease. 
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Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements

and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax

liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable

profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary

difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a

transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Lease income relates to the sublet of the ground floor, fourth floor, and fifth floor of 90 Fenchurch Street.  The lease term expires March 2025.

Whenever the group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying

asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs

relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

1.12  Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the

underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is

depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset.   The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes

items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The group’s

liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient

taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax

When a contract includes lease and non-lease components, if applicable, the group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration under the contract to each

component.

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related

payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in ‘Other

expenses’ in profit or loss (see note 26).

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account for any lease and associated non-lease

components as a single arrangement. The group has not used this practical expedient. For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more

additional lease or non-lease components, the group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-

alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

(b) The group as lessor

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures,

except where the group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the

foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to

the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected

to reverse in the foreseeable future.

Leases for which the group is a lessor are classified as operating leases. 

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Current tax

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and

arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.13  Income Tax
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The group presents the first two components of defined benefit costs within cost of sales and administrative expenses (see note 30) in its consolidated

income statement.  Curtailments gains and losses are accounted for as past-service cost.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they

relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

- net interest expense or income; and

- current service cost, past service cost and gains and losses on curtailments and settlements;

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the consolidated balance sheet represents the deficit or surplus in the group’s defined benefit schemes. Any

surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the schemes or reductions

in future contributions to the schemes.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the

contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as payments to defined contribution schemes where the group’s

obligations under the schemes are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme.

During the year, the group offset current tax assets and liabilities (and deferred tax assets and liabilities) where they relate to income taxes levied by the

same tax authority and the tax authority permits the entity to make or receive a single net payment. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on tax laws and

rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it

relates to items charged or credited in other comprehensive income, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income.

1.14  Retirement benefits and similar obligations

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or

deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Current tax and deferred tax for the year

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when the entity

recognises any related restructuring costs.

- remeasurement.

The group assumed a liability to pay annuities to those former partners of Thos R. Miller & Son (Bermuda) and Thos R. Miller & Son who retired prior to 1989.

The schemes' liabilities have been accounted for in accordance with IAS 19 Employee Benefits and are unfunded. 

Net-interest expense or income is recognised within finance costs (see note 8).

For defined benefit retirement benefit schemes, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit method, with actuarial valuations

being carried out at the end of each reporting period. Remeasurement comprising actuarial gains and losses and the return on scheme assets (excluding

interest) are recognised immediately in the balance sheet with a charge or credit to the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they occur.

Remeasurement recorded in the statement of comprehensive income is not recycled. Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period of scheme

amendment. Net-interest is calculated by applying a discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. From 31 December 2016, the company adopted

an alternative approach in determining a discount rate that is to be applied when calculating the pension liability, following a review of the evidence and

methods used. The discount rate is required to be set based on the market yield available on high quality corporate bond yields (assumed to be AA rated

corporate bonds). In determining the yield curve on which the discount rate is derived, the new approach assumes flat forward rates from 30 years onwards,

resulting in a higher discount rate and a lower value being placed on the pension liabilities.  Defined benefit pension costs are split into three categories:

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the group expects, at the

end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

1.13  Income Tax (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)
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1.16  Revenue

The group has in place, investment management agreements with entities to provide investment management services over a contracted period.

Management fees, based on the value of managed investments, are invoiced and fees received on a quarterly basis. The group satisfies its contractual

arrangements with the entities as the investment management services are provided, evenly over the contracted period. 

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised over time as the services are rendered based on either a fixed price or an hourly rate. The group

provide consultancy services per terms of engagements and the client is invoiced when the engagement is complete. Revenue from the rendering of

services is measured by reference to the stage of completion of the service transaction at the end of the reporting period provided that the outcome can be

reliably estimated.  When the outcome cannot be reliably estimated, revenue is recognised only to the extent that expenses recognised are recoverable.

1.15  Dividends payable

The group generates a proportion of its (contingent commissions) income through arranging "After The Event" ("ATE") insurance for its customers, primarily

through its recently acquired subsidiary TheJudge Limited. Commission income from "After The Event" insurance work and litigation funding is recognised

once the relevant case has been successful and the deadline for appeals has passed. If a commission has been received, but an appeal is expected to

follow, then a provision against this income will be made. Some of this income is paid up front and is non-refundable, so is recognised as revenue upon

completion of the performance obligations. However, the majority of the revenue is contingent upon the successful outcome of litigation cases, some of which

take a number of years to conclude and so is considered variable consideration. The company classifies this variable consideration as accrued income, and

estimates its value using either a) the expected value method – based on probability weighted amounts by reviewing historical data such as win/loss

frequencies commissions received and using it to apply loss ratio discounts and staging premiums to the book of portfolio, or b) the most likely outcome

method – where the case is distinct in their characteristics determining the outcome of the case. The variable consideration is then constrained to account for

the uncertainty associated with the cases and the probability of a significant reversal in revenue. The most appropriate method is chosen and applied

consistently to each specific customer group or book of business. 

Shares held within Employee Benefit Trusts ("EBTs") are dealt with in the balance sheet as a deduction from equity shareholders' funds. Any gains or losses

arising on the disposal of shares held within the EBTs are shown as a movement within shareholders' funds.

Other

Consultancy fees

For each source of revenue, the nature of service, timing of obligations, significant payment terms and refund obligations are discussed below.

All other revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the group is expected to be entitled in exchange for transferring services

to its clients. The group recognises revenue as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to the customer of the services

promised.

Revenue, which excludes value added tax, represents the value of insurance commissions, amounts chargeable to clients for professional services,

investment management services, advisory services and agency and management fees attributable to the accounting year.

Club management fees

Investment management fees

1.17  Own shares held by Employee Benefit Trusts

Dividends payable to the company's shareholders are recognised in the group's financial statements in the period in which the dividend is paid.

The group is contracted to provide management services to a number of insurance entities over their financial period. Fees are received to perform these

management services, comprised of a fixed fee and an incentive fee, the conditions of which vary between management agreements. Some arragements

provide for an income return if costs incurred fall below set agreed figures. Services provided to clients, which at the balance sheet date have not been billed

to clients, are recognised as revenue. Revenue recognised in this manner is based on an assessment of the fair value of the services provided at the

balance sheet date as a proportion of the total value of the engagement. Revenue is only recognised where the company has a contractual right to receive

consideration for the delivery of its performance obligation. The entities are invoiced and fees received on an annual, bi-annual or quarterly basis. The group

satisfies its contractual arrangements with the entities as the management services are provided, evenly over the entities' financial period. 

Insurance commissions are recognised on the date the underlying insurance policy is bound. Where there is an expectation of future servicing costs, an

element of income relating to the insurance policy is deferred to cover the associated contractual obligation. The group has in place binding authority

agreements with insurers to underwrite insurance policies and perform claims handling services on behalf of the insurer, for which commission is receivable.

Commission in respect of underwriting insurance policies is recognised when the insurance policy has been placed. An allowance is made for potential policy

cancellations, where policyholders have the right to cancel prior to inception. Commission received in respect of handling claims is recognised over the

period the service is expected to be provided.

Insurance commissions
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1.18  Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or services received, except

where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date

the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.

The group’s defined benefit obligation is discounted at a rate set by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on high quality corporate

bonds. Significant judgement is required when setting the criteria for bonds to be included in the population from which the yield curve is derived. The most

significant criteria considered for the selection of bonds include the issue size of the corporate bonds, quality of the bonds and the identification of outliers

which are excluded.  The inflation and mortality assumptions are set out in Note 32, as is further informaton regarding the sensitivity analysis.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the group measures the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination at

fair value. The fair values of assets and liabilities acquired are different in a number of instances from the values shown in the entities’ own financial

statements. This is due to the application of different accounting policies in these financial statements or the application of fair valuation principles to assets

and liabilities recorded by the entities under other bases such as historical cost (for instance due to discounting requirements of acquisition accounting). Fair

value adjustments can be based on external appraisals or valuation models, e.g. accrued income recognised for contingent commissions. The difference in

values is accounted for as goodwill (note 15).

Discount, Inflation, and Mortality rates used to determine the carrying amount of the group’s defined benefit obligation

1.19  The Thomas Miller Healthcare Trust

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with separately below), that the directors have made in the

process of applying the group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements.

Fair valuation of acquisitions

In the application of the group and company's accounting policies, which are described in note 1, the directors are required to make judgements, estimates

and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated

assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The Thomas Miller Healthcare Trust Scheme ("Scheme") was set up on 1 July 2010 to provide certain benefits relating to medical treatment for employees of

Thomas Miller & Co. Limited (“TMC”) and other persons who are eligible to participate in the Scheme. The benefits payable are the actual cost of the

treatment up to the maximum (if any) specified in the trust deeds benefits table applicable at the time treatment was received (subject to any excess or benefit

limitation which may be stipulated in the rules). The Scheme will pay benefits only for expenditure that a member has incurred during the scheme year for

which contribution from TMC or another applicable employer has been made into the Scheme. 

Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability is recognised for the goods or services acquired, measured initially at the fair value of the liability. At each

balance sheet date until the liability is settled, and at the date of settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with any changes in fair value

recognised in profit or loss for the year.

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that may have a significant risk of

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed in note 30).

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on

the group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. At each balance sheet date, the group revises its estimate of the number of equity

instruments expected to vest as a result of the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is

recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to equity reserves.

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant

date. The fair value excludes the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-

based transactions are set out in note 29.

Save As You Earn ("SAYE") share options granted to employees are treated as cancelled when employees cease to contribute to the scheme.  This results in 

accelerated recognition of the expenses that would have arisen over the remainder of the original vesting period.

The fund amount cannot in any circumstances be transferred to any person or body who is or has at any time been an employer. The Trust is accounted for

in accordance with Urgent Issues Task Force Abstract 32 Employee Benefit Trusts and other payment arrangements.

2.  Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
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Refund liability 

Contingent commissions

3.  Revenue

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Bermuda 14,150 16,527 

United Kingdom and Europe 158,346 143,291 

Americas 9,302 9,984 

Asia Pacific 5,371 6,280 

Africa 1,285 1,622 

188,454 177,704 

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

139,103 131,524 

2,526 2,691 

Consultancy fees 18,306 18,702 

Insurance commissions 20,174 16,899 

Claims management 6,490 4,381 

Rental Income 976 961 

Other income 879 2,546 

188,454 177,704 

Investment management fees

For the recognition of contingent commissions within TheJudge Group, either the expected value method or most likely outcome method is applied. Most 

cases are calculated under the expected value method which takes into account the uncertainty associated with the income values due to the broad range of 

possible considerations which depend on the stage a case is settled or taken to court – the probabilities of a case settling at different stages is based on 

historic data and management judgement. The value of cases have probability weighted outcomes applied to reflect the likelihood of success – ranging from 

4% to 53% based on historical data and management judgement. If the loss rate were to increase/decrease by 10 percentage points, the accrued income 

balance should increase/decrease by £2.71 million (2023 - £1.87m).  The most likely outcome method is used for cases which due to their characteristics are 

not able to use the expected value method. A constraint is applied as variable consideration should only be included in the transaction price to the extent that 

it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. Due to the binary nature of the variable 

consideration, either receiving commission if a case is won or not if it is lost, the variable consideration from the most likely outcome method is constrained to 

nil by applying management judgement. In the unlikely scenario that all the constrained cases win and generate commission, this could result in income of 

£8,853,561 (2023 - £7,679,548). Finally, the accrued income is discounted to reflect the time value of money, as many cases will not conclude within one 

year. Assumptions are made regarding the timing of settlement using historic cash realisation patterns and management judgement.  The company has made 

estimates and assumptions in calculating the fair value of this accrued income, and management considers these to be supportable, reasonable and robust. 

However, given the inherent uncertainty of the outcome and timing of conclusion of litigation cases, it is possible that outcomes in the forthcoming financial 

years could result in a materially different figure to the £15.29 million shown at the balance sheet date. Due to the current uncertainty around interest rates in 

the market, we have performed a sensitivity analysis on that to show for 2024, that the contingent commission decreases by £134,674 for each percentage 

point that the interest rate increases (2023 - £116,093).

Disaggregation of revenue

Impairment of goodwill

Insurance management fees

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The

value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in

order to calculate present value.  Please refer to note 15 for further information.

Judgements in determining the transaction price and the amounts allocated to performance obligations

The refund liability represents the amount of commission received or receivable on insurance policies bound but not incepted, for which the group does not

expect to be entitled. Historical data is used across product lines to estimate such returns when the policy is bound based on an expected value methodology

and is updated at the end of each reporting period for changes in circumstances. Sensitivity analysis has shown for 2024, that the Refund Liability changes

by £31,632 for each percentage point that the "NTU" rate changes (2023 - £26,808).

Revenue by geographical origin is shown below: 

2.  Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Revenue by nature of business is shown below: 
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3.  Revenue (continued)

Contract balances

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Contract assets 24,601 27,299 

Contract liabilities (33,689) (44,032)

Contract assets 2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Contract assets at the beginning of the period 27,299 31,027 

(Reductions) / Additions (2,698) (3,728)

Contract assets at the end of the period 24,601 27,299 

Contract liabilities 2024 2024 2023 2023

Deferred 

income

Refund 

liability

Deferred 

income

Refund 

liability

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Contract liabilities at the beginning of the period 43,725 307 38,303 400 

Payments received in advance - - 5,422 - 

Charge / (credit) during the year (10,384) 41 - (93)

Contract liabilities at the end of the period 33,341 348 43,725 307 

4.  Operating profit

This is stated after charging / (crediting): 2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Depreciation and amortisation charges:

-  Owned assets 4,597 2,070 

-  Leasehold improvements 1,138 942 

431 436 

-  Right of use assets 4,241 4,147 

-  Goodwill impairment - 2,492 

Rentals under operating leases 113 664 

(Losses) / gain on disposal of tangible fixed assets 2 (88)

Exchange losses / (gains) 802 431 

Exchange (gains) / losses on forward contracts 42 (122)

The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers:

The group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 and does not disclose information about remaining performance obligations that have

original expected durations of one year or less. The group applies the practical expedient in paragraph C5(c) of IFRS 15 and does not disclose the amount of

the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations and an explanation of when the group expects to recognise that amount as revenue

for the year ended 31 December 2024.

For 2024, revenue includes £43.7 million included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the period.

Contract assets are comprised of current and non-current Accrued Income set out in Note 21.

-  Intangible assets

Contract liabilities are comprised of Deferred income and Provision for refund liability set out in Note 23.

Receivables (which are included in 'Trade and other receivables')
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4.  Operating profit (continued)

The analysis of auditor remuneration is as follows:

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Fees payable to the company's auditor for the audit of the company's annual accounts 197 170 

Fees payable to the company's auditor and their associates for other services to the group:

390 438 

Fees payable to other auditors for the audit of the company's subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 252 173 

Total audit fees 839 781 

-  Tax services 11 30 

-  Other services 215 - 

Total non-audit fees 226 30 

5.  Directors remuneration

Directors’ remuneration for the year was as follows:

(i) Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments paid to directors by the company and its subsidiaries were as follows:

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Salaries, fees and short-term employee benefits 2,295 2,285 

Post-employment benefits  58  53 

Share based payments  1,208  708 

 3,561  3,046 

Analysis of Directors' Remuneration (a)   

Salaries, fees and short-term employee benefits   

   Annual salary              1,647              1,675 

   Cash bonus                 391                 382 

   Other cash payments (car allowance, pension allowance and other)                  64                   59 

   Risk benefits                   43                   46 

   Compensation for loss of office                  -                     -   

   Non-Executive director fees                  150                 124 

            2,295             2,285 

Post employment benefits   

   Defined contribution pension scheme                   58                   53 

  

Share based payments   

   Restricted share award (b)                485                 206 

   Long-term incentive award ("LTIP") (c)                501                502 

   Other share payed payments                222                   -   

             1,208                 708 

             3,561              3,046 

The fees for other services includes costs associated with supporting various corporate transactions.

-  The audit of the company's subsidiaries pursuant to legislation (including overseas subsidiaries)

Charitable donations paid by the group in 2024 amounted to £77,000 (2023 - £106,000).
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5.  Directors remuneration (continued)

  

  

Cash bonus - £356,615 (2024 - £391,163)   

Restricted share award - £489,400 (2024 - £485,400)   

Long Term Incentive Award (unvested nil-cost options) - £1,537,750 (2023 - £1,725,690)   

  

(ii) Directors and retirement benefits

The number of directors to whom retirement benefits are accruing in respect of qualifying services was:

2024 2023

Number Number

Defined benefit schemes 1 1 

Defined contribution schemes 2 2 

Exercised options over shares in the parent company 3 2 

Had awards receivable in the form of shares under a long-term incentive scheme 2 4 

6.  Employee information (including directors)

2024 2023

Number Number

United Kingdom and Europe 783 756 

Asia 82 79 

Americas 54 44 

Australasia 13 12 

Middle East - 1 

932 892 

Thomas Miller Holdings Ltd. (The Company) has no employees.

The total payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Wages and salaries (including bonuses) 99,651 94,914 

Redundancy costs 1,315 19 

Social security costs 10,175 9,624 

Other pension costs - defined contribution schemes 9,901 8,571 

121,042 113,128 

The average number of persons employed by the group during the year was 932 (2023 - 892).  The split between geographical areas was as follows:

d) Awards approved by the Remuneration and Nominations Committee in their April 2025 meeting for current TMH Executive Directors in respect of 2024 are:

The awards above relate to payments due in respect of the 2024 financial year, and exclude loss of office and gardening leave elements. 

b) Senior Leadership Incentive Plan ("SLIP") is awarded in restricted shares with a five year restriction period.

c) In 2022 and 2023 and 2024, LTIP awards in the form of unvested nil-cost options were made to executive directors. The value of these awards will be

reported on vesting in 2025, 2026 and 2027 respectively.

a) Directors remuneration is reported on an 'as paid' basis. Bonus and share based awards reported above therefore relate to performance in the prior

financial year. These awards in respect of 2024 will be paid in 2025 and will therefore be formally reported in the 2025 accounts - these are reported at note

4 below for information.

The provision made for the Senior Leadership Incentive Plan ("SLIP") - included within wages and salaries, which was set up to align senior managers' long-

term incentive arrangements with the long-term interests of the company, is discussed in note 29. 
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7.  Finance income

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Interest receivable and similar income 1,968 1,061 

Net finance income on retirement benefit schemes (note 32) 965 1,002 

2,933 2,063 

8.  Finance costs

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Bank Interest 119 108 

Interest on lease liabilities 873 911 

992 1,019 

9.  Other gains and losses

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Net (loss) / gain arising on financial assets measured at FVPTL (44) 7,739 

10.  Income tax 

The tax charge is based on the profit for the year and represents:

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Current tax on profit on ordinary activities

UK corporation tax 838 1,496 

Foreign tax suffered 1,403 927 

2,241 2,423 

Foreign tax relief - - 

Overseas taxation - adjustments in respect of prior years 190 11 

UK taxation - adjustments in respect of prior years 163 10 

Total current tax 2,594 2,444 

Deferred tax:

Current year 1,854 2,010 

- 110 

Adjustments in respect of prior years (329) (2)

Total deferred tax charge / (credit) 1,525 2,118 

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 4,119 4,562 

Effect of changes in tax rates
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10.  Income tax  (continued)

11.  Reconciliation of current year tax charge

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

11,056 21,951 

2,763 5,163 

3,280 1,232 

(3,144) (2,193)

- 110 

123 100 

485 (540)

589 620 

(329) 49 

352 21 

4,119 4,562 

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Current tax:

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Excess tax credits / (deductions) related to contributions to defined benefit schemes (18) (840)

Deferred tax:

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability (4,165) 603 

(4,183) (237)

In addition to the amount charged to the income statement, the following amounts relating to tax have been recognised in other comprehensive income:

(Decrease) / increase in current tax from adjustment for prior periods

Decrease from effect of revenues exempt from taxation

Profit before tax on continuing operations

Profit on ordinary activities before tax multiplied by the standard rate of tax of 25% (2023 - 23.52%)

Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Effects of:

Deferred tax expense relating to changes in tax rates or laws

The OECD's Pillar Two framework aims to ensure MNEs with global annual revenues above 750m Euros pay a minimum effective tax rate on income within

each jurisdiction in which they operate.  The TMH group has not breached the revenue threshold and therefore is not currently in scope of Pillar Two

Tax decrease from utilisation of tax losses

Tax charge for the year

Increase from effect of foreign tax rates

Deferred tax credit from unrecognised temporary difference from a prior period

Increase from effect of expenses not deductible in determining taxable profit /(tax loss)

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit in the income statement as follows:

Tax (decrease) / increase from effect of unrelieved losses on foreign subsidiaries

The standard rate of corporation tax in the UK was 25.0% with effect from 1 April 2023. Accordingly, the company’s profits for this accounting year are taxed

at a rate of 25.0% (PY: 23.5%).
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11.  Reconciliation of current year tax charge (continued)

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Current tax:

(414) (88)

Deferred tax:

Change in estimated excess tax deductions related to share-based payments 34 3 

Total income tax recognised directly in equity (380) (85)

12.  Profit attributable to the company

13.  Dividends

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

TM Holdings Dividends

1,335 1,347 

2,624 2,593 

1,330 1,309 

5,289 5,249 

TMS Dividends

380 277 

Total Dividends 5,669 5,526 

£’000

1,314 

The trustees of the employee benefit trusts ("EBTs") waived their rights to dividends payable after 20 January 2005.

14.  Earnings per share 

Second interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 of 13.0p per share - paid in March 2025.

The profit for the financial year dealt with in the financial statements of the parent company was £11.95 million (2023 - £10.48 million). As permitted by

Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 no separate income statement is presented in respect of the parent company.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue on the assumption of conversion of all dilutive

potential ordinary shares. The group had one category of dilutive potential ordinary shares being those share options in issue where the exercise price is less

than the average market price of the company's shares during the year. 

First interim dividend paid for the year ended 31 December 2024 of 13.0p (2023 - 12.5p) per share

Second interim dividend paid for year ended 31 December 2023 of 13.0p (2022 - 12.5p) per share

Excess tax deductions related to share-based payments on exercised options

In February 2025, the directors approved a second interim dividend of 13.0p per share (2023 - 13.0p) to be paid to shareholders on the register as at 4 March

2025, paid in March 2025. The directors have agreed that a final dividend of 26.0p per share (2023 - 25.5p) will be paid to shareholders on the register on 31

May 2025. The total estimated dividend to be paid is £2.63 million (2023 - £2.62 million). This dividend, together with the second interim dividend, has not

been included as a liability in these financial statements.

Final dividend of £1,690 paid for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022 final - £1,230) per share

In addition to the amount charged to the income statement and other comprehensive income, the following amounts relating to tax have been recognised

directly in equity:

TMSUAL has on issue a special class of shares for the Offshore business to enable profit sharing per agreed defined criteria

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares

during the year.  Shares held by the Employee Benefit Trusts are excluded from the calculation of the weighted average number of shares.

Final dividend of 25.5p paid for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022 final - 24.0p) per share

The following dividends were agreed by the directors and have not been included as a liability in these financial statements:
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14.  Earnings per share (continued)

From continuing and discontinued operations

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Earnings

Profit for the financial year 6,938 17,388 

Basic and diluted earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders 6,938 17,388 

2024 2023

Number Number

'000 '000

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 10,217 10,672 

Effect of dilutive share options 76 89 

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares 10,293 10,761 

From continuing and discontinued operations:

Basic earnings per share 67.9p 162.9p 

Diluted earnings per share 67.4p 161.6p 

15.  Goodwill and intangible assets

Group Goodwill Software 

and 

customer 

lists

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 January 2024 12,334 6,389 18,723 

Exchange adjustments - (20) (20)

Additions 3,560 999 4,559 

Impairment (980) - (980)

Disposals - (2,299) (2,299)

At 31 December 2024 14,914 5,069 19,983 

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2024 1,056 4,273 5,329 

Exchange adjustments - (90) (90)

Charged for the year - 431 431 

Impairment - 710 710 

Disposals - (2,219) (2,219)

At 31 December 2024 1,056 3,105 4,161 

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2024 13,858 1,964 15,822 

At 31 December 2023 11,278 2,116 13,394 

35



THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

15.  Intangible fixed assets (continued)

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

981 981 

4,844 4,844 

2,645 3,625 

TheJudge Group Holdings Ltd 1,828 1,828 

Condon Claims Management Ltd 3,560 - 

13,858 11,278 

Thomas Miller Specialty Holdings Limited, Brookes Bell LLP, Thomas Miller Insurance (Germany) Gmbh and TheJudge Group Holdings Limited

Thomas Miller Insurance (Germany) Gmbh

The group tests goodwill for impairment annually and for new acquisitions in the year post acquisition, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill

might be impaired. The group has conducted an analysis of the sensitivity of the impairment test to changes in the key assumptions used to determine the

recoverable amount for each of the group of CGUs to which goodwill is allocated. The directors believe that any reasonably possible change in the key

assumptions on which the recoverable amount of CGUs is based would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable

amount of the related CGUs.

Thomas Miller Claims Management Ltd and Condon Claims Management 

Goodwill on acquisition of business

Goodwill on acquisition of business

Description

On 16 January 2024, Thomas Miller Claims Management Ltd (TMCM) acquired Condon Claims Management Ltd (CCM) and its subsidiary company Condon

Claims Management Inc resulting in goodwill of £3.560m. See note 17.

Due to the uncertain economic environment, additional impairment testing (sensitivity analysis) work was performed on the Brookes Bell, Germany Marine,

and TheJudge CGUs.  For TheJudge, the impairment test has been based on a projecting average 2020-2024 cashflow forward into future periods which

reflects TheJudges performance versus plan for since acquisition. The result is headroom of £3.2m so no impairment has been recorded. A reduction in the

EBITDA growth rate assumption of 1% would result in a reduction in headroom of £1.09m, while an increase in the discount rate used of 1%, would result in a

reduction in headroom of £1.36m demonstarting resiliance in TheJudge projected performance. 

£981,000 of goodwill remains from £3.71 million which arose as a result of a group reorganisation soon after 2000. The group continues to operate with

almost all the traditional businesses remaining in place and still produces strong profits. Adjustments processed in respect of the introduction of IFRS

reversed any amortisation that took place after 1 January 2014 (IFRS transition date) onwards, leaving balances prior to this date unchanged. At 31

December 2024, impairment has been reconsidered and none was proposed.  

Goodwill on acquisition of business

Brookes Bell LLP (including 3D Marine Inc.)

The Marine book has undergone a re-underwriting process with new parameters established for the risk appetite.  The result of this process is a level of

uncertainty regarding the future performance of this business.  The underlying projections that have been ultilised in the impairment calculation are based on

the new Marine book achieving the targeted combined ratio, with the initial indications being positive as the 2024 binder year is performing better than this

benchmark.  An impairment of £0.98m has been recorded, however with a level of uncertainty surrounding the impact of the re-underwriting, the possibility of

further impairments to the goodwill cannot be discounted.  Sensitivity analysis has been performed on the impact of a change to the achieved combined ratio,

with a further £0.36m impairment for each 1% reduction in performance.  Management will be actively monitoring the situation as it unfolds during 2025.

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units (CGU) i.e. for Thomas Miller Specialty Holdings Limited, Brookes Bell LLP, Thomas Miller Insurance

(Germany) Gmbh are determined from a "value in use" calculation, where the key assumptions relate to discount rate, revenue growth and cost growth.

Management estimates the discount rate using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money. An individual discount rate

is used for the impairment reviews of each CGU, the range applied is 10.50% to 15.75%.

The revenue and cost growth rates used are based on reasonable management expectations for the 2025-2027 budgets and then in perpetuity with the

extrapolation using a 2% growth rate.

For Brookes Bell, sensitivity analysis indicated that, for the goodwill headroom to become nil, if profit before tax in 2025 was nil then 2026 and 2027 would

both need to achieve 74% of the current forecasted position which is considered to be highly unlikely based on current expectations.

The amortisation period for software and customers lists is ten years.

Goodwill on acquisition of business

Goodwill arising on acquisition of former 

partnerships

Cash generating units:

Thomas Miller & Co. Limited, Thomas Miller (Isle of Man) Limited 

and Thomas Miller Bermuda Ltd

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the Cash Generating Units ("CGUs"), or group of units that are expected to benefit

from that business combination.  Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:

Thomas Miller & Co. Limited, Thomas Miller (Isle of Man) Limited and Thomas Miller Bermuda Ltd
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16.  Property, plant and equipment

Group Freehold 

buildings

Leasehold

improve-

ments

Office 

machinery, 

fixtures & 

fittings

Office 

machinery, 

fixtures & 

fittings

Motor 

vehicles

Total

Leased / Owned Owned

financed

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost

At 1 January 2024 250 7,907 1,177 33,343 76 42,753 

Exchange adjustments - (2) - (30) (2) (34)

Additions - 541 - 9,919 - 10,460 

Disposals - (669) (1,006) (3,535) (74) (5,284)

At 31 December 2024 250 7,777 171 39,697 - 47,895 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2024 - 4,163 1,152 12,186 3 17,504 

Exchange adjustments - (8) - (14) - (22)

Charged for the year - 1,138 - 4,597 - 5,735 

Disposals - (669) (1,006) (3,442) (3) (5,120)

At 31 December 2024 - 4,624 146 13,327 - 18,097 

Net book value

At 31 December 2024 250 3,153 25 26,370 - 29,798 

At 31 December 2023 250 3,744 25 21,157 73 25,249 

Net obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts are secured on the assets acquired.

Additions and disposals also include some reclassifications within each heading due to transfers of assets between two group subsidiaries.
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17. Acquisition of Subsidiary

£’000

Customer List intangible 999 

Fixed Assets 3 

1,669 

406 

(224)

Non current liabilities (2)

2,851 

3,560 

6,411 

4,589 

1,822 

6,411 

4,589 

(1,849)

(999)

Fixed Assets (3)

1,822 

3,560 

18.  Investments held as fixed assets

Group

£’000

Interests in associates

2024

At 1 January 2024 133 

Foreign exchange adjustment (2)

Dividends received from associates (18)

Share of operating profit of associates for the year 56 

At 31 December 2024 169 

2023

At 1 January 2023 183 

Foreign exchange adjustment (11)

Dividends received from associates (73)

Share of operating profit of associates for the year 34 

At 31 December 2023 133 

Satisfied by:

Share of

net assets

Other current assets

Consideration

Cash and cash equivalents

Deferred consideration

On 16 January 2024, the group acquired 100% of Condon Claims Management Ltd (CCM) and its subsidiary company Condon Claims Management Inc, a 

company engaged in management services, providing services complemetary to the other businesses within the group.

Goodwill

Consideration

The goodwill recognised as a result of any business combination will not be treated as deductible for corporation tax purposes.

The revenue included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income since 16 January 2024 contributed by CCM was £582,000. CCM also 

contributed profit of £1,926,000 over the same period.

Acquisition of subsidiaries (cash paid)

Condon Claims Management Ltd

Net assets

Current liabilities

The amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are set out in the table below:

Cash consideration

Purchased goodwill

Deferred consideration

Identifiable assets and liabilities

Acquisition costs
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18.  Investments held as fixed assets (continued)

Group

Other investments - unlisted £’000

2024

At 1 January 2024 8,140 

Additions 6 

Disposals (7,990)

At 31 December 2024 156 

2023

At 1 January 2023 401 

Additions 7,739 

At 31 December 2023 8,140 

Company Other fixed 

asset 

investments

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

2024

50,375 125 50,500 

Disposals (30,021) - (30,021)

20,354 125 20,479 

2023

53,192 125 53,317 

Disposals (2,817) - (2,817)

50,375 125 50,500 

Investments in subsidiaries and associates

Name of company Nature of business

Subsidiary undertakings 

Leeward Management Co Ltd (Bermuda)

Thomas Miller Holdings (Bermuda) Ltd (incorporated in Bermuda)

Thomas Miller (Hellas) Ltd* (Bermuda)

Thomas Miller Investment Holdings Ltd (Bermuda)

Thomas Miller Investment Ltd*

Thomas Miller Investment (Isle of Man) Limited* (Isle of Man) Investment management services

Service company

At 1 January 2023

At 31 December 2023

Management services

The sale of the ShipServ investment has completed and the cash distribution to shareholders received during 2024.

Investment holding

Investment management services

At 1 January 2024

Details of the investments in which the group or the company holds more than 10% of the nominal value of any class of share capital are shown below. The

various undertakings are primarily engaged in the management of insurance mutuals and other managing general agency activities in the international

transport and professional indemnity sectors and 100% of ordinary shares and voting rights are held, unless otherwise stated. Unless indicated to the

contrary, all investments are held by the company and incorporated in the United Kingdom and registered in England and Wales.

Other fixed

asset

investments

At 31 December 2024

Investment holding

Subsidiary 

undertakings
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18.  Investments held as fixed assets (continued)

Name of company Nature of business

Subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Thomas Miller (Bermuda) Ltd. (incorporated in Bermuda)

Windsor Insurance Company Limited* (Bermuda)

Windsor Private Trustee Company Ltd* (Bermuda)

Thomas Miller Investments (Bermuda) Ltd* (Bermuda)

TMB Trustee Company Limited* Pension scheme trustee

Thomas Miller (Isle of Man) Limited (Isle of Man)

Thomas Miller Captive Management Limited* (Isle of Man)

Thomas Miller (Isle of Man) Management Services Limited*

     SIGCo Management Services (IOM) Ltd* (Isle of Man) Insurance intermediary

Ilex Global Reinsurance Company Limited*

Thomas Miller Insurance Managers Limited (Isle of Man)

Thomas Miller Claims Management Limited

Shearwater Law Ltd*

Thomas Miller Claims Management Pty Ltd* (Australia)

Thomas Miller (Australasia) Pty Ltd* (Australia)

Condon Claims Management Ltd*

     Condon Claims Management Inc*

Thomas Miller KK (Japan)

Thomas Miller (UK) Holdings Company Ltd

       TheJudge Group Holdings Limited*

     TheJudge Limited*

     TheJudge Canada* (Canada)

     TheJudge Americas LLC* (America) After The Event insurance

     TJversicherungsmakler GmbH After The Event insurance

        Brookes Bell LLP*

      Brookes Bell Shanghai Maritime Technology Consulting Co. Ltd* (China)

      Brookes Bell Hong Kong Limited* (Hong Kong)

      Brookes Bell Pte Limited* (Singapore)

      Neale Consulting Engineers Limited*

      Brookes Bell Limited* (Shanghai)

      3D Marine Inc.* (America)

     Thomas Miller Claims Management (USA) Inc 

        Thomas Miller Specialty Holdings Limited (formerly Osprey Holdings Limited)

     Navata GmbH

     Navata Global (Singapore) Ptd. Limited

Osprey Aerospace Limited*

        Building LifePlans Limited

     BLP Technical Services (UK) Ltd*

        Thomas Miller & Co. Limited*

        Marine Response Services Ltd*

        H.A.P.M. Management Company Limited*

        Signum Services Ltd.*

        International Transport Intermediaries Management Company Ltd*

        Thomas Miller P&I Ltd*

        Thomas Miller Defence Ltd.*

        Thomas Miller Professional Indemnity Limited*

        Thomas Miller War Risks Services Limited*

        Through Transport Mutual Services (UK) Limited * Agency and management services

Entremain Limited

Thomas Miller (Americas) Inc.* (America)

     Thomas Miller (San Francisco) Inc.* (USA) Agency services

     Thomas Miller (Seatle) Inc.* (USA) Agency services

     Fairlead Group Inc.* (USA) Private investigation services

Thomas Miller Hong Kong Limited*  (Hong Kong)

Thomas Miller (South East  Asia) Pte Ltd* (Singapore)

Business software development and support

Management services

Marine and engineering consultancy

Marine consultancy and loss adjustor services

Agency services

Marine and engineering consultancy

Management services

Marine, technical and surveying consultancy

Investment holding

General services

Construction services

Underwriting agency

Management services

Trust management services

Management services

After The Event insurance

Marine and engineering consultancy

After The Event insurance

Legal services

Investment holding

Investment holding

Reinsurance company

Construction project reviews

Agency services

Management services

Management services

Investigation and security services

Management services

Management services

After The Event insurance

Marine engineering consultancy

Consultancy and management services

Agency and management services

Agency services

Management services

Management services

Management services

Investment holding

Captive insurer

Management services

Agency services

Agency services

Management services

Agency and management services
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18.  Investments held as fixed assets (continued)

Thomas Miller Americas Investment Holdings Inc

        Through Transport Mutual Services (Iberica) SL

Thomas Miller Insurance Germany GmbH *(Germany) Management services

ZASS International GmbH*

Thomas Miller B.V.* (Netherlands)

Thomas Miller Insurance Agency Ltd (Cyprus)

Subsidiary undertakings (Dormant)

Davies Johnson Law Ltd

Prestwick Law Ltd

Thomas Miller Healthcare Trustees Ltd

TMC Trustee Company Ltd

Thomas Miller (Management Services) Ltd

Thomas Miller (Asia Pacific) Ltd

The Occupational Pensions Defence Union Limited

Thomas Miller Professions Ltd

Associated undertakings and joint ventures

Through Transport Mutual Services (Gulf) (UAE partnership)* (50%)

TTMS (Argentina) SA (USA)* (50%) 

Consumer Code for New Homes Limited* (20%)

Other investments

TT (Bermuda) Services Limited (incorporated in Bermuda) (10%)

SIGCo Management (IOM) Ltd *(Isle of Man) (49%) Insurance Management Services

Hampden & Co. plc (2.035%)

Lime Kiln Holdings Ltd (17%)

ERSO Capital Advisors LLC (17%)

* Held via an intermediate holding company

19.  Financial investments

Group Listed

debt

securities

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2024 2 2,407 2,409 

Net cost of bonds/investments purchased / (sold) in the year - 81 81 

Foreign exchange revaluation - 12 12 

Unrealised gains - (44) (44)

Investment Return - (431) (431)

2 2,025 2,027 

Company

£’000

At 1 January and 31 December 2024 2 

Private investment bank

Service company

The Company holds investments in subsidiaries at cost less impairment. The Company completes an annual assessment of impairment indicators set out in

FRS 102.14.8(d) to determine if any investment has been impaired.

Service company

Holding company

Holding company

Unlisted

investments

At 31 December 2024

Holding company

Insurance recoveries

Unlisted

investments

Holding company

Non-life insurance

Management services
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20. Assets classified as held for sale 

£’000

Deferred tax assets 375 

Trade and other receivables 7,099 

Cash and cash equivalents 24,667 

Assets 32,141 

Liabilities (24,704)

Net carrying amount of disposal group 7,437 

The profit for the year has been classified as a discontinued operation 

restated*

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 127 1,774 

21.  Trade and other receivables

Due within one year Company Group Company Group

2024 2024 2023 2023

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 28,452 - 7,666 - 

Trade debtors - 20,058 - 25,924 

Other debtors - 8,285 - 10,377 

Prepayments 142 6,758 73 7,939 

Accrued income - 13,035 - 17,153 

Accrued Interest - 31 - 30 

Corporation tax debtor - 1,858 - 2,046 

Derivative financial instruments - 7 - 64 

28,594 50,033 7,739 63,533 

Due after one year Company Group Company Group

2024 2024 2023 2023

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Deferred tax (note 22) 127 3,958 153 622 

Accrued income - 11,566 - 10,146 

Subordinated loans 10,771 - 11,626 - 

10,898 15,524 11,779 10,768 

On the 8th October 2024, Thomas Miller Holdings made the strategic decision to sell the Navata group. The disposal, which meets the criteria in IFRS 5:7 & 8 

to be classified as held for sale, takes the form of the disposal group, as follows:

The subordinated loans and their respective interest rates and repayment terms are shown below:

Subordinated loans were granted by the company to Shearwater Law Ltd, Thomas Miller Specialty Holdings Limited, Brookes Bell LLP and Thomas Miller

Insurance (Germany) Limited. The loans either have fixed terms or are repayable on demand but only to the extent that the capital resources of the company

exceed the minimum capital resources requirement set by the relevant regulator. Interest receivable on the loans varies between the Bank of England base

rate and 7.35%.  Loans with an interest rate below market rate are repayable on demand. 
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22.  Deferred taxation

Accelerated 

tax 

depreciation

Foreign 

exchange 

contracts

Retirement 

benefit 

obligations

Share-based 

payments

Tax losses 

carried 

forward

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

3,156 (898) 5 (4,568) (51) 176 (2,181)

2 - - - - 0 2 

(1,332) (3,152) (2) - 2,476 (2,010)

- - - (603) - - (603)

- - - - (3) - (3)

(18) 1 - - - - (17)

- 

(85) - - (25) - - (110)

1,724 (4,049) 2 (5,197) (54) 2,653 (4,921)

329 - - - - 0 329 

(1,510) (1,665) (2) - - 950 (2,228)

- - - 4,165 - - 4,165 

- - - - (34) - (34)

(1) (1) - - - - (2)

(32) (0) - - - - (32)

- - - - - - - 

- - - - - - - 

510 (5,715) (0) (1,032) (88) 3,603 (2,723)

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Deferred tax assets 3,958 622 

Deferred tax liabilities (6,681) (5,543)

(2,723) (4,921)

Adjustment in respect of prior periods

Effect of change in tax rate:

At 31 December 2024

Exchange differences

Charge / (credit) to other comprehensive income

No deferred tax liability is recognised on temporary differences of £15.8 million (2023 - £7.0 million) relating to the unremitted earnings of overseas

subsidiaries as the group is able to control the timings of the reversal of these temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.  Temporary differences arising in connection with interests in associates are insignificant.

Exchange differences

During the year, the group offset deferred tax assets and liabilities where they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority and the tax authority

permits the entity to make or recieve a single net payment. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting

purposes:

Credit direct to equity

Credit direct to equity

At 31 December 2022

- income statement

Credit / (charge) to profit or loss

Charge / (credit) to other comprehensive income

Credit / (charge) to profit or loss

Effect of change in tax rate:

At the balance sheet date, the group has gross unused tax losses of £23.9 million (2023 - £20.3 million) available for offset against future profits. A deferred

tax asset has been recognised in respect of £14.3 million (2023 - £10.3 million) of such losses. A group profit forecast has been performed to support the

recoverability of the deferred tax asset. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining £9.6 million (2023 - £10.0 million) as it is not

considered probable that there will be future taxable profits available.  All losses may be carried forward indefinitely as there is no time limit for their use.

- income statement

At 31 December 2023

The following are deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the group and movements thereon during the current and prior reporting period. Amounts

of deferred taxation provided in the accounts are as follows:

Other

temporary

differences

Adjustment in respect of prior periods

Movement arising from a transfer of trade/assets
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23.  Trade and other payables

Amounts falling due within one year Company Group Company Group

2024 2024 2023 2023

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade creditors - 3,196 - 19,880 

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 21,558 - 21,600 - 

Corporation tax payable - 1,402 - 958 

PAYE and social security - 2,184 - 2,135 

Other creditors 13 25,676 12 24,888 

Revolving credit facility - - 8,000 8,000 

Accruals 151 26,537 612 26,768 

Deferred income - 33,341 - 43,725 

Derivative financial instruments - 27 - 4 

Provision for refund liability - 347 - 307 

Future expense run off provision - 413 - 202 

21,722 93,123 30,223 126,867 

Amounts falling due after more than one year Company Group Company Group

2024 2024 2023 2023

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Other creditors - 16,489 693 697 

- 6,682 - 5,543 

- 23,171 693 6,240 

24.  Provisions for liabilities and charges

Group Dilapidation

s provision

Claims 

reserves 

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 January 2024 692 150 842 

Profit and loss account charge 207 89 296 

At 31 December 2024 899 239 1,138 

Non current liabilities are valued using cost or amortised cost basis, as appropriate. Non current liabilities due more than 12 months after the reporting period

comprise of the remaining financing leases.

The dilapidations provision relates to the potential cost of complying with obligations contained within the lease of the company's premises at 90 Fenchurch

Street. These obligations relate to reinstatement, repair, redecoration and other statutory covenants. The current lease expires September 2030, payment

will be made if no extension is successfully negotiated and we vacate the premises.

Claims reserves represent amounts provided by the group's captive insurer for professional indemnity claims.

Other creditors includes £13.1 million (2023 - £10.6 million) owed to third parties by Ilex Global Reinsurance Company Limited, which is a subsidiary of

Thomas Miller (Isle of Man) Limited.

The group has a revolving credit facility of £10 million of committed and £10 million of uncommitted financing from P&I Club. . 

Deferred taxation (note 22)
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2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Called up, allotted and fully paid:

Equity interests:  13,741,468 ordinary shares of £0.10 1,374 1,377 

The following shares of £0.10 nominal value were purchased by the company during the year:

Number of 

shares

Purchase 

price

Share

capital

Share 

premium

£ £ £

Internal share market July 2024 13,317 14.10 1,332 186,438 

Internal share market Dec 2024 10,634 13.95 1,063 147,281 

Number of shares Option price Exercisable from

£

12,500           8.15 Dec 2018

6,416           9.35 Jul 2019

7,764          10.20 May 2022

3,618          10.20 May 2023

3,618          10.20 May 2024

32,912          10.30 May 2021

21,395          10.75 Jul 2021

9,302          10.75 Jul 2022

9,303          10.75 Jul 2023

2,790          10.75 Oct 2021

6,225          11.00 Apr 2026

2,650          11.80 Apr 2025

10,725          12.20 Apr 2025

5,249          12.20 Apr 2027

11,531          12.60 Apr 2026

8,608          12.60 Apr 2028

41,809          12.60 Feb 2025

14,797          13.00 Apr 2027

1,250          13.00 Mar 2027

4,568          13.00 Apr 2029

60,754          13.00 Feb 2026

53,600          13.00 Jan 2026

The use of the share premium account to fund share repurchases is permitted under Bermudian law.

The Company has 25,000,000 autorised shares of £0.10

25.  Called up share capital

The majority of options are exercisable after three years from the date of grant and up to ten years less one day from the date of grant. 

Under the company’s Executive Share Option Scheme, employees held options for the following unissued ordinary shares at the end of the year:
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Number of shares Option price Exercisable from

£

882 10.20        Mar 2024

572 11.00        Mar 2024

20,731 11.00        Mar 2026

21,900 11.80        Mar 2025

14,739 12.20        Apr 2025

12,719 12.20        Apr 2027

21,884 12.60        Apr 2026

12,959 12.60        Apr 2028

23,433 13.00        Mar 2027

15,601 13.00        Mar 2029

26.  Employee Benefit Trusts

Number of 

shares

Market

value

Average

cost

Number of 

shares

Market

value

Average

cost

2024 2024 2024 2023 2023 2023

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Thomas Miller Employee Share Trust No.1 1,038,995 14,494 13,752 902,799 11,736 11,409 

Thomas Miller Employee Share Trust No.2 2,656,003 37,051 12,178 2,656,003 34,528 12,178 

3,694,998 51,545 25,930 3,558,802 46,264 23,587 

Under the company’s UK Save As You Earn scheme, employees held options for the following number of ordinary shares at the end of the year:

Loans have been made by Thomas Miller & Co. Limited to Apex Financial Services (Trust Company) Ltd (formerly Link Market Services (Trustees) Limited)

to enable the purchase of these shares. The Trustees of the Thomas Miller Employee Benefit Trusts ("EBT") waived their rights to dividends payable. The

company had not provided funds to Thomas Miller Employee Share Trust No.1 to enable it to acquire shares in the December 2024 share market (2023 -

£nil).

25.  Called up share capital (continued)

In addition to the above the trusts hold shares which are not specifically vested in employees: 

The Thomas Miller Employee Benefit Trusts were established to acquire shares in order to make them available to group employees under profit sharing

schemes, share option schemes, an employee share ownership plan and other schemes as they become available. The details of the various share

schemes are disclosed below in note 25.

The purpose of the EBTs is to meet known and forecast demand in Thomas Miller Holdings Ltd. shares and also be a source of shares for the issuance of

share awards and the exercise of options.
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27.  Own shares 

2024 2023

£'000 £'000

Balance at 1 January 23,587 18,799 

Proceeds received on exercise of options by employees (666) (606)

Loss on EBT shares acquired by employees (541) (786)

Purchase of shares in the market 9,783 8,052 

Proceeds on sale of shares in the market (3,546) (278)

Value of shares awarded to employees under share awards (2,839) (1,472)

Profit on shares awarded to employees 294 23 

Other disposals (142) (145)

Balance at 31 December 25,930 23,587 

The following company shares, all with a nominal value of £0.10, were purchased by the EBTs during the year for the following price:

Number of shares purchased Cost 

£’000

460,305 shares purchased in July 2024 £14.10 6,490 

235,995 shares purchased in December 2024 £13.95 3,293 

9,783 

28.  Leases

Right-of-use assets

Buildings Equipment Total

Cost £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 January 2024 63,777 332 64,109 

Additions 3,007 81 3,088 

Disposals (1,463) (63) (1,526)

At 31 December 2024 65,321 350 65,671 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2024 46,000 140 46,140 

Charge for the year 4,078 163 4,241 

Disposals (1,019) (63) (1,082)

At 31 December 2024 49,059 240 49,299 

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2024 16,262 110 16,372 

At 31 December 2023 17,777 192 17,969 

The 1 June 2024 price of £14.10 was determined by the parent company's current valuer, Alvarez & Marsal Valuation Services LLP, for a single share in

accordance with the company's bye-laws.  The share price at 1 November 2024 of £13.95 was determined on the same basis by the same valuer.

Price per share

The shares held by the EBT are to be used to settle share awards under the various share schemes operated by the group. The remaining shares are

intended to be used to satisfy share options, to distribute as bonuses and to distribute to employees on reaching three years continuous service with the

group. As at 31 December 2024, the cost of the shares held by the EBT is below the anticipated proceeds from the exercise of outstanding options and other

share awards by £639,500 (2023 £1,122,912).
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28.  Leases (continued)

Amounts recognised in consolidated income statement

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 4,241 4,201 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 812 911 

Expense relating to dilapidations 35 28 

Lease liabilities

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Analysed as:

Non-current 16,507 16,021 

Current 1,719 5,199 

18,226 21,220 

Maturity analysis - Lease expense

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Year 1 2,479 5,199 

Year 2 4,282 1,226 

Year 3 4,011 2,570 

Year 4 3,452 3,061 

Year 5 3,351 3,075 

Onwards 3,045 6,089 

20,620 21,220 

The group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. 

Maturity analysis - Lease income

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Year 1 - 562 

Year 2 - - 

- 562 

Some property leases contain extension options exercisable by the group up to one year before the end of the non-cancellable contract period. Where

practicable, the group seeks to include extension options in new leases to provide operational flexibility. The extension options held are exercisable only by

the group and not by the lessors. The group assesses at the lease commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options.

The group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if there is a significant event or significant changes in circumstances within its

control.  No such changes, circumstances or significant events have required any reassessment.

The group has options to purchase certain manufacturing equipment for a nominal amount at the end of the lease term. The group’s obligations are secured

by the lessors’ title to the leased assets for such leases.

The weighted average lessees’ incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position on 31 December 2024 is

4.02% (2023 - 3.90%).

The group leases several assets including buildings and photocopiers.  The average lease term is 2.7 years (2023 - 2.6 years).

48



THOMAS MILLER HOLDINGS LTD.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Number of 

options

Weighted 

average 

exercise price 

(in £)

Number of 

options

Weighted 

average 

exercise price 

(in £)

Number of 

options

Weighted 

average 

exercise price 

(in £)

405,777 11.06 163,151 11.62 568,928 11.22

135,169 13.00 39,876 13.00 175,045 13.00

(72,456) 11.05 (17,171) 11.54 (89,627) 11.14

(137,106) 10.59 (40,436) 10.70 (177,542) 10.62

331,384 10.31 145,420 12.26 476,804 10.91

109,618 10.17 1,454 - 111,072 10.17

477,461 10.82 183,130 11.27 660,591 10.95

64,698 12.50 42,997 12.60 107,695 12.54

(10,041) 10.49 (23,738) 11.49 (33,779) 11.19

(126,341) 10.94 (39,238) 11.13 (165,579) 10.98

405,777 11.06 163,151 11.62 568,928 11.22

223,453 10.04 - - 223,453 10.04

The group operates a savings related option scheme under which employees save a fixed amount per month over either a three year or five year period

under a Save As You Earn contract operated by a third party administrator. On completion of the savings contract employees have the choice, within six

months of the vesting date, of either exercising their option or taking the amount saved in cash. The options automatically lapse six months after vesting.

This scheme is a scheme approved by the UK tax authorities and as such is only available to employees resident in the UK and the Isle of Man. 

The company has various share option schemes as outlined below:

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

Employee share option schemes and other share-based plans

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was £13.55. The options outstanding at 31 December

2024 had a weighted average exercise price of £10.91, and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.04 years. The aggregate of the estimated fair

values of the options granted in 2024 is £952,212 (2023 - £186,615). 

Equity-settled share option schemes

(i) The Thomas Miller Executive Share Option Scheme

Forfeited during the period

Granted during the period

Exercisable at the end of the period

Exercisable at the end of the period

Year ended 31 December 2024

(iii) The Thomas Miller Non UK Share Option Scheme

Exercised during the period

Exercised during the period

Outstanding at the end of the period

The group awards share options to certain employees under the Thomas Miller Executive Share Option Scheme enabling them to acquire ordinary shares in

Thomas Miller Holdings Ltd. at their market value at the date of grant. Options are generally exercisable three years after the date of grant and up to ten

years less one day from the date of grant. Options are forfeited when an employee leaves the group unless by reason of retirement or redundancy, in which

case, the employee has up to six months to exercise the option. 

29.  Share-based payments

Outstanding at the end of the period

The options granted under this scheme are identical to those granted under the UK savings related option scheme with the exception that there is no savings

related element to the scheme. This scheme is only open to non UK employees. This scheme is part of the Thomas Miller Executive Share Option Scheme

and the option movements for the  Thomas Miller Non UK Share Option Scheme are shown below as part of that scheme's disclosures.

(ii) The Thomas Miller UK Savings Related Share Option Scheme

The Thomas Miller UK 

Savings Related Share 

Option Scheme

The Thomas Miller 

Executive Share Option 

Scheme

Year ended 31 December 2023

Forfeited during the period

Outstanding at beginning of period

Granted during the period

Total

Outstanding at beginning of period
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2024 2023

£13.00 £12.60

£13.00 £12.60

25% 25%

2.09 2.01

3.84% 3.17%

52.00p 49.00p

Dividend yield 4.00% 3.89%

2024 2023

£'000 £'000

115 132 

Executive Directors' Long-Term Incentive Plan 795 797 

1,986 1,151 

31 77 

143 127 

3,070 2,284 

The group recognised total expenses in respect of share-based payments as follows:

ii) The Thomas Miller Save As You Earn (‘SAYE’) Scheme

The Company witholds a percentage of all LTIP options awarded with this withheld element being used to make payment to the relevant tax authority to settle

the individuals expected taxation liability relating to this award.

Employees subject to UK income tax are eligible to participate in this plan. The plan has tax advantages for employees who choose to hold shares in the

parent company. All the shares are held in trust on behalf of named employees. The plan trustees are Link Market Services Trustees Limited. The plan is

approved by the UK’s HM Revenue & Customs.

Expected volatility

The UK-tax efficient SAYE scheme allows employees to contribute over either three or five years to a savings scheme and at the same time take out share

options of the equivalent value of shares. At the end of the agreed period the employees has six months in which to decide whether to exercise the share

options, or instead simply to receive back the cash that has accumulated in the savings account. For employees in non-UK locations, a similar value of share

options can be granted under a separate scheme, however there are no associated tax benefits. The UK scheme is approved by the UK’s HM Revenue and

Customs.

Risk-free rate

Equity-settled share option schemes

Other share-based plans

Cash-settled share option schemes

The expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the group's share price over the period since incorporation. 

(i) The Thomas Miller Share Incentive Plan 

Weighted average share price

iv) 2024 Executive Directors’ Long-term Incentive Awards (‘LTIP’)

29.  Share-based payments (continued)

A new Executive Director LTIP was approved by the RNC for awards starting in the 2024 financial year. This replaced a discretionary LTIP arrangement

which had operated since 2019. Under the new LTIP arrangement, Executive Directors are awarded nil-cost options at the start of a two-year vesting period

based on a target LTIP percentage in line with total compensation agreed for their respective roles. Specific LTIP objectives are agreed for each LTIP period,

and these are the same for all Executive Directors. After the end of the two-year vesting period, the RNC considers Executive Director performance, and the

awards are adjusted depending on achievement against the agreed LTIP objectives.  The adjusted award then vests in full as ordinary shares.

Shares awarded under bonus schemes - cash-settled

Weighted average exercise price

Commencing 1 January 2025 (for awards to be payable in 2026), the financial performance target applicable for all participants for 10% of their award,

regardless of individual participation level, is the achievement of Thomas Miller Group business plan profit targets for the relevant year, the business plan

targets having been agreed by the Board of Thomas Miller Holdings Ltd. In addition, those participants at individual participation levels above 10% are

considered for a Club/Business award for the eligible percentage over 10%, subject to the business to which the participant is aligned achieving the agreed

budgeted Club/Business profit (for the TM Group) for the relevant financial year.

Charges in respect of service award scheme - cash-settled

(iii) The Thomas Miller Senior Leadership Incentive Plan ("SLIP")

Expected life (years)

Expected dividends 

The Company operates an additional bonus scheme for senior employees which is dependent on meeting pre-determined financial targets for profitability and

on participants’ performance (as assessed through their annual performance rating) meeting expectations. Individual participation levels are expressed as a

percentage of base salary: 10%, 20%, 30% or 40%. Any shares awarded to employees under this scheme are restricted and cannot be sold for a minimum

of three years. The provision for the SLIP scheme is included within “accruals” (note 19). 

The company as a "qualifying entity" is exempt from providing full disclosures about share-based payments in accordance with section 26 of FRS 102. 

The inputs into the Black-Scholes option pricing model in respect of share options granted are as follows:
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Capital management

Fair values of financial instruments

Company Group Company Group

2024 2024 2023 2023

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial assets

Fixed asset investments 20,479 325 50,500 8,273 

Current asset listed investments - 2,025 - 2,407 

Current asset unlisted investments 2 2 2 2 

5,517 44,444 6,258 56,776 

28,594 50,033 7,739 63,533 

54,592 96,829 64,499 130,991 

Financial liabilities

21,709 90,934 22,905 125,396 

- 1,402 - 958 

- 1,138 - 842 

- (30) - 76 

- 1,124 - 1,213 

21,709 94,568 22,905 128,485 

Financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL

Company Group Company Group

2024 2024 2023 2023

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Difference between carrying amount and contractual amount at maturity:

Amount payable at maturity - 3,057 - 3,647 

Less:  Fair value of liabilities designated at FVTPL - (3,087) - (3,572)

- (30) - 75 

Cash and cash equivalents

The group is also exposed to the above risks through the operation of a number of final salary pension schemes. The strategy for dealing with the associated

risks is managed by the board of Thomas Miller Holdings Ltd., through close liaison with trustee boards.

The group manages its capital to provide returns to its shareholders and manage other stakeholders. The group looks to produce financial returns from its

capital appropriate to the level of risk taken. The group retains capital in the business at a level appropriate to the financial strength of the business and the

conditions in the economic environment. The normal mechanisms for moderating the level of capital retained are through adjusting the levels of bonus or

dividend paid and also through considering whether investments or divestments are appropriate. Decisions on these matters will be reviewed and agreed by

the board of Thomas Miller Holdings Ltd.

Trade and other payables

Financial risk management objectives

Retirement benefit obligation

Fair Value Through Profit and Loss ("FVPTL") - held as trading

Tax liabilities

The group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis for

recognition of income and expenses) for each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 1.

Trade and other receivables

30.  Financial instruments

The group is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets and financial liabilities. In particular, the key financial risk is that the proceeds from financial

assets are not sufficient to fund the obligations arising from financial liabilities as they fall due. The most important components of this financial risk are

interest rate risk, currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Provisions
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2024 2024 2024 2023 2023 2023

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current asset listed investments 2,025 - - 2,407 - - 

Forward contracts - (30) - - 75 - 

Accrued income - - 13,035 - - 17,153 

Credit risk

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities included in the Level 2 category have been independently valued by HSBC based on observable market

conditions prevailing at the valuation date, including relevant foreign exchange rates.

- Cash and cash equivalents; and

The fair value of the following assets and liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts:

- For those financial assets and liabilities that are cash or short-term trade receivables or payables, carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair

value.

- Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable

market data (unobservable inputs).

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full when due.  Key areas where the group is exposed to credit risk are:

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value

The fair values of the group’s financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows:

- corporate bonds held within the group;

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

- Receivables;

- amounts due from insurance and other customers; and

- Payables and other financial liabilities.

- cash balances held with financial institutions.

Fair value measurements

- Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

30.  Financial instruments (continued)

The group places limits on the level of cash balances held at any financial institution. Amounts due to the group are actively monitored by the credit control

department and board of the relevant group undertaking.

The group applies IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments", which requires a forward-looking expected credit losses model approach for financial loss impairment.

- The group’s remaining financial assets and liabilities are measured, subsequent to initial recognition, at fair value, and they can be grouped into Levels 1 to

3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

The fair value of the financial assets included in the Level 3 category have been calculated by management and relate to the accrued income in respect of

TheJudge Limited.  The methodology is detailed in Note 1.16. 

- Retirement benefit obligations are valued by independent actuaries in accordance with IFRS.
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Credit risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

Floating

rate

Non-

interest

bearing

Total Floating

rate

Non-

interest

bearing

Total

2024 2024 2024 2023 2023 2023

Group £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial assets

£ Sterling 16,202 7,120 23,322 11,264 10,368 21,632 

US$ 9,449 9,672 19,121 6,379 19,156 25,535 

Other 1,579 422 2,001 1,983 7,626 9,609 

27,230 17,214 44,444 19,626 37,150 56,776 

Floating

rate

Non-

interest

bearing

Total Floating

rate

Non-

interest

bearing

Total

2024 2024 2024 2023 2023 2023

Company £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial assets

£ Sterling 3,560 5 3,565 3,287 50 3,337 

US$ 1,944 4 1,948 2,508 41 2,549 

Euro - 4 4 - 372 372 

5,504 13 5,517 5,795 463 6,258 

Currency risk

30.  Financial instruments (continued)

The group is exposed to currency risk in respect of certain income streams denominated in currencies other than Sterling. The most significant currency to

which the group is exposed is the US Dollar. The group seeks to mitigate the risk through forward currency sales. This aims to reduce exposure to

unexpected changes in currency exchange rates. The impact of foreign exchange movements on US Dollar income transactions is offset to a large extent by

an equivalent impact on US Dollar expenses. 

The interest rate risk profile of financial assets at 31 December, was as follows:

Interest rate risk exists from the group's exposure to adverse movements in interest rates in relation to cash balances, deposits and leases. The group

monitors the risk and reduces its exposure by considering choice of available funds. Management will take advice from investment specialists within the

group to act in line with the group's Investment Policy. The group is not materially exposed to movements in interest rates particularly as it does not have any

financial liabilities.

Aged debtor reports are reviewed at each month end and a general bad debt provision is made for a minimum of 50% of all outstanding debts over 6 months

old, after deduction of any debts specifically provided for.  There were no impairment factors such as significant write-offs present.

Trade receivables and accrued income are subject to impairment using the expected credit losses model. As permitted by IFRS 9, the group applies the

simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected credit loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets.

Consequently, the IFRS 9 concept of a significant increase in credit risk is not applicable to the group’s expected credit losses. To assess expected credit

losses, balances are either assessed individually or grouped based on similar credit risk characteristics. The group is not involved with complex financial

instruments, it does not apply hedge accounting, nor has any history of material credit losses. The majority of the group revenue comprising of management

and incentive fees and investment management fees are not considered in the assessment because the payments received from the clubs are subject to

individual signed contracts / fee agreements with the management company and also through club board approval. Assessments are carried out regularly

across the group to review level of bad debt provisions and credit losses, to determine the impact of these on the group financial statements. The level of

credit losses across the rest of the group is low and immaterial.
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Group Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities

2024 2023 2024 2023

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

8,800 5,757 9,687 7,476 

30,844 23,898 30,809 21,439 

39,644 29,655 40,496 28,915 

Company Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities

2024 2023 2024 2023

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

1,335 296 1,935 2,781 

Currency sensitivity

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Profit before tax decrease (105) (197)

Liquidity and cash flow risk

31.  Derivative financial instruments

2024 2023 2024 2023

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Assets

Forward foreign currency contracts 7 64 1 16 

Liabilities

Forward foreign currency contracts 27 4 11 - 

Forward foreign currency contracts are valued using quoted forward exchange rates and revalued at the rate available to cancel the contract, with any gains

and losses accounted for within the income statement.

Derivatives that are designated as "held for trading" and carried at fair value:

US$

The carrying amounts of the group's monetary assets and liabilities, held by entities with a functional currency other than Sterling, at the reporting date are as

follows:

Non-current

The results of US dollar overseas subsidiaries when translated into Sterling using the average rate of exchange for the year have been compared with their

results following a 10% weakening of the currency average rate for the year has been assumed in the sensitivity analysis and the impact is shown in the table

below:

US$

Liquidity and cash flow risk is the risk that cash may not be available to pay obligations when due. The Investment Policy sets limits on cash balances to

ensure that funds are available to cover anticipated liabilities and unexpected levels of demand.

30.  Financial instruments (continued)

Current

Other
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Risks

Inflation risk

Regulatory risk

Actual inflation is higher and so benefit payments are higher than anticipated.

A full actuarial valuation for the Thomas Miller & Co Retirement Scheme ("TMC Scheme"), a funded final salary pension scheme, was performed at 31

December 2021 and was updated to 31 December 2024 by external actuaries. It showed that, on an IAS 19 Employee Benefits basis, the market value of

the Scheme’s assets was £126,663,000 (2023 - £156,286,000) and that the actuarial value of these assets represented 105% (2023 - 117%) of the benefits

that had accrued to members. Future service accrual under the Scheme ceased with effect from 1 October 2004. In addition, salary linkage was removed for

active members who remained employees with effect from 30 June 2011.

The group operates funded and unfunded defined benefit final salary pension schemes; the funded scheme has been set up under a trust that hold the

financial assets separately from those of the group. Valuations have been performed in accordance with the requirements of IAS 19 "Employee Benefits" as

at each reporting date. The trustees of the pension fund are required by law to act in the interest of the fund and of all relevant stakeholders in the scheme.

The trustees of the pension fund are responsible for the investment policy with regard to the assets of the fund.

In April 2024, Thomas Miller entered into a a buy-in agreement with Aviva plc, in accordance with IAS 19, the buy-in agreement is deemed as qualifying and

is revalued to an amount equal and opposite of the defined benefit obligation. Movements are recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income. 

32.  Retirement benefit schemes

Investment returns

Investment strategy

The schemes listed above typically expose the group to actuarial risks such as: investment risk, interest rate risk and longevity risk. The majority of the risk

relating to benefits to be paid to the dependants of scheme members is not re-insured.

Defined benefit schemes

Defined contribution scheme

Longevity risk

Changes in asset values are not matched by changes in the scheme’s defined benefit obligation. For example, if equity values fall with no changes in

corporate bond yields, the net pension asset would reduce.

The present value of the defined benefit plan liabilities is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and after

their employment.  An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability.

The group considers that where a pension asset to be realised in respect of the TMC scheme after all member benefits have been paid and after the scheme

is wound up, this would be fully recoverable by the group in line with the rules of that scheme. In the meantime, in the ordinary course of business the

Trustee has no rights to unilaterally wind up the scheme or otherwise augment the benefits payable to members. Therefore, any pension surplus is

recognised in full under current accounting standards (IFRIC 14).

In future the scheme may have backdated claims or liabilities arising from future legislation, emerging practice or court judgements.

Future investment returns are lower than anticipated and so additional contributions are required from the group to pay all the benefits promised.

The group assumed a liability to pay annuities to those former partners of Thos R. Miller & Son who had retired prior to 1989. The total unfunded liability has

been calculated according to standard actuarial methods using an assumption of future investment returns of 5.5% (2023 - 4.5%). In addition, the group has

also assumed a liability to pay an annuity to a former employee of one of its Isle of Man subsidiaries; this has been calculated on the same basis and using

the same assumptions.

Thomas Miller & Co Limited operates a defined contribution retirement scheme for all qualifying employees within the United Kingdom. Depending on the age

of the participant, the subsidiary contributes a specified percentage of a participants' pay to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only

obligation of the group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions. The total expense charged to the Income

Statement, for defined contribution schemes, in the year ended 31 December 2024 was £0.2 million (2023 - £3.65 million). 

Scheme liabilities have been calculated using a consistent projected unit valuation method and compared to the schemes' assets at the 31 December 2024

market value as shown below.
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2024 2023

5.50% 4.50%

3.00% 2.90%

Future inflation - RPI 3.10% 3.00%

Future inflation - CPI 2.40% 2.30%

2024 2023

UK scheme 

only

UK scheme 

only

Male

Females

Projections

24.9 25.0

26.8 26.8

26.2 26.2

28.2 28.1

2024 2023

£'000 £'000

126,663 156,286 

(120,096) (133,433)

6,567 22,853 

(1,124) (1,213)

5,443 21,640 

Females

Males

32.  Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

Discount rate

UK Scheme

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the group's obligations in respect of its defined benefit retirement benefit schemes is as 

follows:

CMI 2022

long-term rate

1.25% per annum

Future inflation-linked pension increases

S3NA_L Tables

Present value of funded obligations

Net surplus arising from defined benefit scheme obligations

At 31 December 2024, the group had an overall "net surplus" of £5.4 million in respect of its defined benefit schemes. This included an accounting surplus of

£6.6 million, arising in respect of the TMC Scheme.  The other schemes have an overall deficit of £1.2 million.

Retiring in 20 years

The assumed life expectations on retirement at age 63:

Males

Females

S3NA_L Tables

S3NA_L Tables

S3NA_L Tables

Present value of unfunded obligations

Principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date:

CMI 2023

long-term rate

1.25% per annum

Fair value of assets

Retiring today

Mortality
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2024 2023

£'000 £'000

(965) (1,000)

Administrative expenses 580 - 

(385) (1,000) 

2024 2023

£'000 £'000

29,616 1,032 

(384) (3,338)

(12,702) 3,846 

201 (354)

16,731 1,186 

2024 2023

£'000 £'000

134,646 135,691 

5,915 6,333 

(384) (3,338)

(12,702) 3,846 

201 (354)

- - 

8 (32)

(6,466) (7,501)

121,219 134,646 

Exchange differences on foreign arrangements

The Trustee commissioned a review of the historic deeds, and the findings so far indicates relevant deeds have detailed Section 37 wording in the recitals

and some have actual standalone Section 37 certificates prepared by the Actuary.  

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit (surplus) / liability

Actuarial losses arising from experience adjustments

Liabilities extinguished on settlements

Opening defined benefit obligation

Remeasurement (gains) / losses:

The amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

On 16 June 2023, the High Court issued a ruling in respect of Virgin Media v NTL Pension Trustees II Limited (and others), which has the potential to affect

the schemes liabilities. The case considered the validity of deeds where no Section 37 certificate (confirming that the minimum level of benefits had not been

breached) was attached to the deed.  

The amounts recognised in income in respect of these defined benefit obligations are as follows:

32.  Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

No adjustments are proposed to the scheme balances at 31 December 2024, and the Group considers this approach reasonable and appropriate. The

Group will await the outcome of the appeal process prior to assessing what, if any, impact there might be on the scheme balances.

Interest cost

Net interest on net defined benefit liability

Actuarial losses / (gains) arising from experience adjustments

Benefits paid

Closing defined benefit obligation

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations in the year were as follows:

Actuarial (gains) arising from changes in demographic assumptions

Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions

The losses on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense)

Actuarial (gains) arising from changes in financial assumptions

The net interest expense has been included within finance costs (see note 8). The remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability is included in the

statement of comprehensive income.  

Actuarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in financial assumptions

In October 2018, the High Court ruled on the Lloyds Bank Guaranteed Minimum Pensions ("GMP') inequalities case. In response to this, an allowance of

0.3% of the TMC Scheme’s pension liabilities (£0.5 million) was included within Thomas Miller & Co. Limited's 31 December 2018 year-end figures to make

provision for the estimated costs arising from the judgment. In May 2020, Lloyds Bank went back to court to seek clarification on whether there is also a

liability in respect of members that have transferred out of their scheme. In November 2020, the High Court ruled that past transfer values from 1990 now

have to be equalised for GMP inequalities.  A cost has not been included a cost on materiality grounds.
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2024 2023

£'000 £'000

156,286 153,831 

6,880 7,335 

(29,616) (1,032)

(580) - 

158 3,653 

(6,466) (7,501)

126,662 156,286 

2024 2023

£'000 £'000

Liability driven investments - 102,046 

Other growth assets:

- absolute return funds - 53,593 

Cash 6,956 645 

Insurance policies 119,706 2 

126,662 156,286 

Sensitivity analysis of the principal assumptions used to measure scheme liabilities

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on scheme liabilities

Discount rate Increase by 0.5% Decrease by 5%

Decrease by 0.5% Increase by 6%

Rate of inflation Increase by 0.5% Increase by 2%

Decrease by 0.5% Decrease by 2%

Rate of mortality Increase life expectancy by 1 year Increase by 4%

Opening fair value of plan assets

The above sensitivities relate to the main retirement benefit scheme operated by the group, The Thomas Miller & Co. Limited Retirement Benefits Scheme.

The "impact on scheme liabilities" sensitivities have been calculated to show the movement in the defined benefit obligation in isolation, and assuming no

other changes in market conditions at the accounting date. This is unlikely in practice - for example, a change in the rate of inflation is unlikely to occur

without any movement in the value of assets held by the Scheme, particularly as the Scheme now holds a buy-in policy with Aviva. The sensitivities do not

take into account any potential impact of the change in assumptions on the assets of this scheme, which may have a compensating sensitivity.

The major categories and fair values of plan assets at the end of the reporting period for each category are as follows:

Exchange differences on foreign arrangements

Administrative expenses

Benefits paid

Assets distributed on settlements

Contributions by employer

Remeasurement gain:

The scheme does not invest directly in financial securities issued by the company or in property or other assets used by the company.

Movements In the fair value of plan assets in the year were as follows:

The (deficit) / return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense)

Closing fair value of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets

As the sponsor of the pension scheme, Thomas Miller assumed all investment, inflation, and longevity risk associated with satisfying all future member

benefits. One of the possible (recurring) outcomes manifesting from these risks is the value of assets held being deemed insufficient to cover all future

member benefits (pension deficit). In 2020 this scenario occurred, resulting in Thomas Miller providing circa £11m of additional funding over a three year

period from 2021 to address the deficit.  

For a third party, in this case Aviva, to assume the risk related to investment, inflation, and longevity, a risk margin is payable over and above the current

valuation of the liabilities at the buy-in date. Under IAS 19 the calculated value of the scheme assets is based on corporate bond yields, while the asset

valuation for the buy-in is based on gilt yields. The gilt basis results in a lower asset valuation, the difference in basis representing the higher targeted return

required to facilitate this risk transfer. The risk margin paid on the buy-in transaction is represented by the £16.7m cost on the Other Comprehensive Income

Statement and corresponding reduction in net pension assets shown on the Balance Sheet. The buy-in transaction has secured member benefits and

removed pension related risk from Thomas Miller’s balance sheet. The Trustee, after weighing up all information and consulting members deemed pursuing

the buy-in was the best course of action for the members and Thomas Miller.

Interest income

32.  Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

In May 2024 the pension scheme entered into a bulk annuity ("buy-in") contract with Aviva. Following the transaction most financial and demographic risks

present in the Scheme's liabilities are being managed through the policy. The buy-in now makes up a substantial amount of the Scheme's assets with the

balance invested in a sterling liquid cash fund or held as cash in the bank account.
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£'000

- 

165 

165 

33.  Related party transactions

34.  Consolidated cash flow statement - reconciliation of operating profit to operating cash flows

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Group operating profit 8,901 10,894 

Other - Operating profit discontinued operations 203 2,239 

Depreciation, amortisation and goodwill impairment 12,176 10,096 

Profit/(Loss) on sale of fixed assets 119 52 

(Decrease) in provisions 295 119 

Adjustment for pension funding (see below) 422 (3,653)

Shares awarded to employees under various bonus schemes 2,839 1,472 

Equity settled share option charge 336 724 

25,291 21,943 

(Increase) / decrease in debtors 4,756 (1,762)

Increase / (decrease) in creditors 14,320 9,126 

44,367 29,307 

Corporation tax paid (1,494) (2,572)

Interest paid (1,110) (1,110)

41,763 25,625 

2024 2023

£’000 £’000

Non client cash:

Liquidity funds 5,578 3,969 

Other bank accounts 20,772 17,598 

Client cash 18,094 35,209 

44,444 56,776 

Thomas Miller & Co. Limited Retirement Benefits Scheme

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

Future contributions 

The group is expected to make the following contributions to the various defined benefit pension schemes during the year to 31 December 2025:

Contributions to be

made in the year 

Annuities payable to former partners and employees

Balances and transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed

in this note.

Cash generated by operations

32.  Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

Net cash from operating activities

The adjustment for pension funding represents the net of current service costs, the gains on curtailment and contributions paid.

The remuneration of directors is disclosed in note 5. Certain employees of the group are members of one defined benefit scheme operated by the group, of

which details are given in note 30.

The client cash is restricted in nature as it is held on behalf of third party clients, including insurance carriers. A corresponding balance is included within

trade creditors.

Cash and cash equivalents is broken down as follows:
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35.  Commitments

Exercise date

Currency 

sold

Amount Currency 

bought

Contract rate

27-Feb-2025 USD 1,875,000    GBP 1.2720          

30-Jun-2026 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2393          

31-Mar-2026 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2404          

30-Dec-2025 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2414          

30-Jun-2025 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2446          

30-Jun-2026 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2732          

31-Mar-2026 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2756          

30-Dec-2025 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2781          

30-Jun-2025 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2842          

30-Dec-2025 USD 44,000         GBP 1.2155          

30-Sep-2025 USD 44,000         GBP 1.2157          

30-Jun-2025 USD 44,000         GBP 1.2160          

31-Mar-2025 USD 44,000         GBP 1.2160          

28-Nov-2025 USD 24,000         GBP 1.2231          

30-Sep-2025 USD 24,000         GBP 1.2276          

30-Jun-2025 USD 24,000         GBP 1.2271          

31-Mar-2025 USD 24,000         GBP 1.2269          

31-Mar-2026 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2588          

30-Sep-2025 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2587          

31-Mar-2027 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2492          

30-Sep-2026 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2461          

31-Mar-2025 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2381          

31-Mar-2027 USD 120,000       GBP 1.2734          

30-Jun-2026 USD 120,000       GBP 1.2692          

30-Sep-2025 USD 120,000       GBP 1.2659          

30-Jun-2027 USD 110,000       GBP 1.2655          

30-Sep-2026 USD 110,000       GBP 1.2668          

30-Dec-2025 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2694          

30-Sep-2027 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2985          

30-Dec-2026 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2993          

30-Jun-2025 USD 60,000         GBP 1.3019          

30-Sep-2027 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2599          

30-Dec-2026 USD 60,000         GBP 1.2609          

The impact of fair value movements on open forward contracts during 2024 was a loss of £30,000 (2023 - £76,000 gain). The fair value of open forward

contracts at 31 December 2024 is shown in note 30.

At 31 December 2024, the group had entered into forward contracts to hedge anticipated currency receipts in two subsidiary companies. The forward

contracts are summarised below:
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36.  Litigation 

37.  Post balance sheet events

In February 2025, the directors approved a second interim dividend of 13.0p per share (2023 - 13.0p) to be paid to shareholders on the register as at 3 March

2025, paid in March 2025. The directors have agreed that a final dividend of 26p per share (2023 - 25.5p) will be paid to shareholders on the register on 31

May 2025. The total estimated dividend to be paid is £2.63 million (2023 - £2.62 million). This dividend, together with the second interim dividend, has not

been included as a liability in these financial statements.

The group is subject to certain claims and litigation arising in the normal course of its mutual management business and other activities. Damages are sought

in these claims and litigation. However, on the basis of current information and legal advice, the company does not expect that these claims and litigation will

have a material impact on the financial position of the group, however, the company has made provisions net of any insurance recoveries against such

liabilities where they deem appropriate.
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